**REVIEWS** *Biol. Rev.* (2022), pp. 000–000. doi: 10.1111/brv.12903

BIOLOGICAL

1

# Effects of water temperature on freshwater macroinvertebrates: a systematic review

Luca Bonacina\* , Federica Fasano, Valeria Mezzanotte and Riccardo Fornaroli

Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences (DISAT), University of Milano-Bicocca, Piazza della Scienza 1, 20126, Milan, Italy

# ABSTRACT

Water temperature is one of the main abiotic factors affecting the structure and functioning of aquatic ecosystems and its alteration can have important effects on biological communities. Macroinvertebrates are excellent bio-indicators and have been used for decades to assess the status of aquatic ecosystems as a result of environmental stresses; however, their responses to temperature are poorly documented and have not been systematically evaluated. The aims of this review are: (i) to collate and summarize responses of freshwater macroinvertebrates to different temperature conditions, comparing the results of experimental and theoretical studies; (i) to understand how the focus of research on the effects of temperature on macroinvertebrates has changed during the last 51 years; and (iii) to identify research gaps regarding temperature responses, ecosystem types, organism groups, spatiotemporal scales, and geographical regions to suggest possible research directions. We performed a comparative assessment of 223 publications that specifically consider freshwater macroinvertebrates and address the effects of temperature. Short-term studies performed in the laboratory and focusing on insects exposed to a range of temperatures dominated. Field studies were carried out mainly in Europe, at catchment scale and almost exclusively in rivers; they mainly investigated responses to water thermal regime at the community scale. The most frequent biological responses tested were growth rate, fecundity and the time and length of emergence, whereas ecological responses mainly involved composition, richness, and distribution. Thermal research on freshwater macroinvertebrates has undergone a shift since the 2000s when studies involving extended spatiotemporal scales and investigating the effects of global warming first appeared. In addition, recent studies have considered the effects of temperature at genetic and evolutionary scales. Our review revealed that the effects of temperature on macroinvertebrates are manifold with implications at different levels, from genes to communities. However, community-level physiological, phenological and fitness responses tested on individuals or populations should be studied in more detail given their macroecological effects are likely to be enhanced by climate warming. In addition, most field studies at regional scales have used air temperature as a proxy for water temperature; obtaining accurate water temperature data in future studies will be important to allow proper consideration of the spatial thermal heterogeneity of water bodies and any effects on macroinvertebrate distribution patterns. Finally, we found an uneven number of studies across different ecosystems and geographic areas, with lentic bodies and regions outside the West underrepresented. It will also be crucial to include macroinvertebrates of high-altitude and tropical areas in future work because these groups are most vulnerable to climate warming for multiple reasons. Further studies on temperature-macroinvertebrate relationships are needed to fill the current gaps and facilitate appropriate conservation strategies for freshwater ecosystems in an anthropogenicdriven era.

Key words: aquatic insects, thermal conditions, inland waters, biotic response, climate change, conservation.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 2
	(1) Macroinvertebrates	2
	(2) The role of temperature	3
II.	Methodology	. 5
III.	Results	6

\* Author for correspondence (Tel.: +39 0264482736; E-mail: luca@bonacina.eu; l.bonacina9@campus.unimib.it).

*Biological Reviews* (2022) 000–000 © 2022 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

	(1) General overview	. 6
	(2) Trends in thermal research during the last 50 years	12
IV.	Responses of macroinvertebrates to water temperature	13
	(1) Physiological and metabolic effects	13
	(a) Gene expression	13
	(b) Osmoregulation ability $\ldots$	16
	(c) Respiration	16
	(d) Body size, growth rates and size at emergence	16
	(e) Assimilation/excretion	17
	(f) Thermal limits	17
	(2) Phenological effects	18
	(a) I otal time of development $\dots$	18
	(b) Time and length of natching	10
	(c) Time and length of emergence	10
	$(a)  \text{Volumism}  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  $	19
	(2) Fitness effects	10
	(a) Fecundity and hatching success	19
	( <i>b</i> ) Larval recruitment	20
	(4) Behavioural effects	$\frac{20}{20}$
	(a) Migration and drift	$\overline{20}$
	(b) Predation	20
	( <i>i</i> ) Feeding	20
	(5) Écological effects	21
	(a) Community richness, taxonomic composition, and density	21
	(b) Distribution	21
	(c) Food-chain length	21
	(d) Community structure and trophic role	22
	(e) Secondary production	22
	(6) Evolutionary effects	22
	(a) Genetic diversity	22
V.	Future directions	22
VI.	Conclusions	23
VII.	Acknowledgements	24
VIII.	Data availability statement	24
IX.	Reterences	24
Х.	Supporting information	31

# I. INTRODUCTION

# (1) Macroinvertebrates

Aquatic macroinvertebrates are a heterogeneous group, consisting of aquatic invertebrates bigger than 500 µm (Hauer & Resh, 2017). They are found in marine and freshwater ecosystems, including seas, rivers, streams, springs, lakes, ponds, lagoons, wetlands, and transitional ecosystems. Macroinvertebrate communities are diverse and include thousands of species belonging to phyla such as Arthropoda [Crustacea (Amphipoda and Isopoda) and Insecta (Coleoptera, Diptera, Heteroptera, Odonata, Neuroptera, Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera)], Mollusca (Gastropoda and Bivalvia), Annelida, Nematoda, Platyhelminthes, Porifera, Cnidaria and Bryozoa (Konrad, Brasher & May, 2008; Resh, 2008; Astorga *et al.*, 2011; Demars *et al.*, 2012). This review focuses only on freshwater macroinvertebrates.

Macroinvertebrates play important trophic roles in aquatic communities as a major component of secondary producers; they have a key role in food webs, linking organic matter resources with upper trophic levels (Merritt, Cummins & Berg, 2017). Macroinvertebrates are a highly diversified group of organisms adapted to live in wideranging hydrological and trophic conditions. This ubiquity reflects their evolutionary histories (Will & Resh, 2008), including a wide variety of reproductive, phenological, trophic, metabolic, physiological and behavioural strategies adapted to their specific environments (Hauer & Resh, 2017). For example, some species utilize dormant eggs to survive dry conditions, or a diapause period when environmental conditions are harsh (Tougeron, 2019). Their life cycles range from multivoltine to semivoltine depending on the taxon. Populations of some species can switch to different life-cycle strategies depending on their geographical distribution and climatic conditions (Lamberti et al., 1987; Braune et al., 2008; Everall et al., 2015). Behavioural adaptations include differentiation of the ability to migrate and colonize new habitats to search for food sources or to avoid predators. According to the River Continuum Concept, in lotic ecosystems the trophic composition of the macroinvertebrate community changes along a watercourse due to gradually changing environmental conditions and resource availability. Allochthonous organic inputs decrease from upstream to downstream while autochthonous primary production increases. As a consequence, the partitioning of collectors/shredders/grazers and predators changes, as does the ratio of gross primary productivity and community respiration (Vannote *et al.*, 1980).

For all these reasons, the study of macroinvertebrates has been (Hynes, 1970; Cummins, 1974; Allan & Castillo, 2007) and will continue to be (Moore & Schindler, 2008; Sundermann *et al.*, 2011; Giersch *et al.*, 2015; Cañedo-Argüelles *et al.*, 2020) a central part of aquatic ecology.

Macroinvertebrates are widely used as bioindicators (Holt & Miller, 2011) because they are common and abundant, well studied and provide measurable responses to environmental stress. An unimpaired freshwater body commonly contains dozens of taxa, representing a wide range of habitat preferences and life-history strategies. This taxonomic and functional diversity can reflect responses to multiple environmental conditions, stressors, and disturbances, including the presence of fine sediment, metals, nutrients, invasive species, and hydrologic alterations. Accordingly, benthic invertebrates have been increasingly used as bioindicators since the 1950s (Beck, 1955), and many ecological indices based on macroinvertebrate assemblages have been developed. Such indices have been used to evaluate the effects of temperature on features of macroinvertebrate communities, for example, total taxa richness, relative proportion and/or richness of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera (EPT) (Jourdan et al., 2018; Fornaroli et al., 2020; Krajenbrink et al., 2021), Simpson and Shannon diversity indices (Arai et al., 2015) and Jaccard and Bray-Curtis indices of similarity (Burgmer, Hillebrand & Pfenninger, 2007).

### (2) The role of temperature

Water temperature is one of the primary factors affecting macroinvertebrates. Recording how benthic invertebrates



**Fig. 1.** Typical thermal performance curve for ectotherms (adapted from Huey & Stevenson, 1979).  $CT_{max}$ , critical thermal maximum;  $CT_{min}$ , critical thermal minimum.

respond to changes in water temperature is crucial to understanding the effects of climate change on freshwater ecosystems (Jourdan *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, a deeper knowledge of temperature–biology relationships may allow researchers to disentangle the interacting effects of other aquatic ecosystem stressors like pollution, flow alteration and habitat reduction.

Water temperature influences the solubility of gases (e.g. oxygen) and pollutants, toxicity of chemicals, pH, density, and electrical conductivity. Moreover, temperature controls nutrient cycles, organic matter degradation and primary production. Generally, higher temperatures promote microbial metabolic activity and photosynthesis and affect the development and performance of biotic communities. Each species requires a specific temperature range for optimal performance. The performance-temperature curve is an asymmetric bell curve where performance is maximized at an optimal body temperature and the extremes represent the critical thermal limits [minimum (CT<sub>min</sub>) and maximum (CT<sub>max</sub>); Fig. 1; see Table 1 for glossary]. The range of body temperatures over which performance is equal to or greater than a specified level is called the thermal performance breadth and indicates the width of the individual thermal niche (Angilletta et al., 2002). Stenothermal macroinvertebrate species occupy a restricted temperature range while eurythermal species can tolerate a wider one (Jones, Muhlfeld & Haner, 2017). For many organisms, temperature changes can trigger specific life-cycle phases such as migration, embryonic and larval development, egg hatching, and timing and duration of emergence (Angilletta, 2009a,b). When approaching their thermal limits, organisms show signs of stress, resulting in changes in behaviour (migration, drift and locomotion) (Sherberger et al., 1977; Bruno et al., 2012), physiology and metabolism (respiration, assimilation and excretion, growth rate and body size) (Sweeney, 1978; Zimmerman & Wissing, 1978), reproductive strategies (fecundity, hatching time and success) (Brittain & Mutch, 1984; Everall et al., 2015), and susceptibility to predators (Smolinský & Gvoždík, 2014; Śniegula, Golab & Johansson, 2019), pathogens and parasites (Pritchard & Zloty, 1994). Other responses caused by temperature alterations can affect species distribution and macroinvertebrate community structure through invasions of alien species as well as extinction of vulnerable ones (Dallas & Rivers-Moore, 2014). The effects of temperature changes are often cumulative and also can vary depending on developmental stage (Dallas & Ross-Gillespie, 2015).

Due to the strong link between temperature, life cycle and development of macroinvertebrates, several hypotheses have been proposed to explain how macroinvertebrates respond to different temperature conditions. The first attempt to establish a relationship between environmental temperature and biological mechanisms was the thermal equilibrium hypothesis (TEH) (Sweeney & Vannote, 1978). This hypothesis proposed that: (*i*) for each species, maximum adult body size reflects an equilibrium among developmental processes regulated by temperature, including larval growth rate and

# Table 1. Glossary.

Climate warming	Long-term increase of average air temperature near the surface of Earth also involving increased water temperature. This warming trend has been underway for a long time but has increased significantly in recent
Ectotherms	Organisms for which habitat temperatures determine body temperatures. Ectotherms may have a variable body temperature or may maintain a stable body temperature by moving from one site to another. Ectotherms are unable to produce and conserve adequate metabolic heat to maintain a body temperature above the external temperature. Antonym of endotherms.
Eurythermal species	Species tolerating a wide temperature range. Antonym of stenothermal species,
Hemimetabolous insects	Insects that undergo incomplete or partial metamorphosis (e.g. Plecoptera, Ephemeroptera, Odonata).
Holometabolous insects	Insects that undergo complete metamorphosis (e.g. Trichoptera, Diptera, Coleoptera).
Stenothermal species	Species that can only live in a narrow range of temperatures. Antonym of eurythermal species.
Temperature changes	Refers to a generic change in the water temperature conditions.
	<i>Temperature alteration</i> : temperature change of a water body caused by anthropogenic causes (such as thermal effluents of nuclear power plants).
	Temperature gradient: water temperature variation over a specified distance. In field studies, it includes lake
	temperature stratification and the altitudinal gradient of a mountain stream or a geothermal watercourse. In
	experimental studies, it can be set in tanks that reproduce or manipulate the natural gradient.
	Temperature range: defined as the different temperature levels set in experimental studies to which organisms are
	exposed to assess the temperature dependence of life-history traits.
	<i>Temperature variation</i> : defined as generic changes in experimental studies where water temperature is increased
	or decreased to simulate daily/seasonal nucluations or temperature shocks.
	in a water ourse impacted by hydropeaking
	<i>Thermal stress</i> : organismal responses when the water temperature approaches species-specific critical thermal limits.
Temperature conditions	The thermal environment in which organisms/populations/communities live. Herein we classify temperature conditions for experimental studies as: high temperature, temperature variation, or temperature range; and in field studies as: climate warming, temperature regime, or constant temperature regime.
Thermal divergence	Refers to the presence of populations of the same species that show a different performance with respect to temperature due to their different evolutionary histories.
Temperature effects	Biological and ecological outcomes of temperature. They concern organism physiology, metabolism, phenology,
	fitness, behaviour, community ecology and evolution.
Temperature regime	Water temperature variability of a waterbody on both the temporal (e.g. daily, seasonal) and spatial scales.
	<i>Natural temperature regime</i> : spatial and temporal water temperature variability of a waterbody that is not affected by direct anthropogenic impacts.
	<i>Constant temperature regime</i> : the temperature regime of a waterbody characterized by constant temperature (typically karst streams and springs).
Thermal niche	The range of temperatures allowing population growth, or the temperature requirements of a species within its
	ecosystem. Depending on the methods used for its estimation the thermal niche is evaluated from organism
	traits (based on measurements of temperature dependence for life-history or other traits) and from
Thermal newformen ee	Barge of holy temperatures gives which performance is matter than an acculate an arbitrary level of
hreadth	performance, usually expressed as a percentage of the maximal level. For example, an 80% performance
breatth	breadth is the range of body temperatures over which performance is greater than or equal to 80% of the maximum (Fig. 1).
	Critical thermal maximum ( $CT_{max}$ ) and minimum ( $CT_{min}$ ): maximum and minimum temperatures allowing normal performance.
	Thermal optimum: temperature corresponding to organismal maximum performance.
<b>T</b> 7 1.1 1	<i>Thermal tolerance</i> : the difference between $CT_{max}$ and $CT_{min}$ .
Voltinism	I he trequency or number of annual broods of an organism within a year.

duration, maturation period of adult structures and rate of maturation processes, with maximum adult size and fecundity achieved at an optimum temperature within the thermal tolerance range; (ii) both locally and over large geographic areas, a species distribution is limited by fecundity and adult size, which gradually diminish with increasingly cold or warm temperature cycles (Sweeney, 1978). It follows that small adult size and reduced fecundity (leading to low levels of population recruitment and growth) are the basis by which temperature changes cause the extinction of aquatic populations (Sweeney *et al.*, 2018). Other theories regarding the relationship between temperature, biological mechanisms and ecological patterns have been proposed (Atkinson, 1994; Kingsolver & Huey, 2008). During the last 20 years, researchers have begun to investigate the effects of global warming on aquatic communities. Due to the rapid development of this research and the increasing number of studies assessing the effects of temperature changes on freshwater

communities, we carried out a review of the scientific literature published in the last 50 years to: (*i*) provide an updated, and comprehensive review of responses of freshwater macroinvertebrates to water temperature; (*ii*) understand how the focus of research on the effects of temperature on macroinvertebrates has changed during the last 50 years; and (*iii*) identify current research gaps regarding ecosystem types, taxa, spatial and temporal scales, and climatic regions to suggest future research directions.

#### **II. METHODOLOGY**

We performed a search for relevant publications in the ISI Web of Science (WoS) database using the search string: Title = (("temperature") AND ("macroinvertebrates") AND ("biotic response") NOT ("other")), where: "temperature" includes: temperature\* OR thermal OR warm\* OR heat OR climate change OR thermic; "macroinvertebrates" includes: invertebrat\* OR macroinvertebrat\* OR (aquatic AND insect\*) OR benthos OR benthic OR Plecoptera OR Ephemeroptera OR Trichoptera OR (aquatic AND Coleoptera) OR (aquatic AND Diptera) OR mayfl\* OR stonefl\* OR caddisff\* OR (aquatic AND fly) OR (aquatic AND beetl\*) OR chironomid\* OR freshwater biota OR Odonata OR damselfl\* OR neuropteran\* OR Neuroptera OR Megaloptera OR megalopteran\* OR dragonfl\* OR (aquatic AND Heteroptera) OR (aquatic AND Hemiptera\*) OR midg\*; "biotic response" includes: stress\* OR variation\* OR

dynamic\* OR dietary OR food OR effect OR nich\* OR phenology OR (life AND cycle) OR trait\* OR growth OR reproduction OR mortality OR diseas\* OR behaviour\* OR performance OR dimension\* OR size OR fitness OR success OR voltinism OR flexibility OR emergence OR (egg AND development) OR richness OR composition OR drift OR migration OR spatial OR pattern\* OR gene\* OR feeding OR predation; and "other" includes: fish\* OR marine OR sea\* OR ocean\* OR coast\* OR plankton OR brackish OR meiofauna OR oyster OR terrestrial OR soil OR coral OR foraminifer\* OR alga OR diatom\*.

The literature search considered both original research and review papers published between January 1970 and December 2020 and generated 425 records. After examining the abstracts, only papers related to freshwater macroinvertebrates were retained while papers dealing with marine, lagoon or estuary ecosystems and vertebrates or micro-invertebrates were excluded. Ecotoxicological articles were also excluded when temperature was not the main focus so the number of publications dropped to 269. Finally, each paper was read in full to confirm its relevance to our review and 223 publications were retained (Fig. S1). For each research article ( $\mathcal{N} = 218$ ) in our final database we recorded information including the ecological unit investigated (community, population, gene), focal taxon (recorded to order), temperature conditions, spatiotemporal scale of the study and sampling frequency (see Table 2 for full list of categories). Biotic responses were collated into six categories of effect (physiological and metabolic, phenological, fitness, behavioural, ecological, evolutionary; Table 3). For each category listed in Tables 2 and 3, multiple selections

Table 2. Categories and sub-categories of information drawn from the selected publications.

Category	Description	Sub-categories
Ecosystem	Type of freshwater ecosystem considered	Lotic ecosystems: river, channel, spring Lentic ecosystems: lake, pond
		Laboratory <sup>a</sup>
Study	Type of study	Experimental, theoretical
Continent	Continent where the study was performed	Africa, Antarctica, Asia, Europe, Oceania, North America, Central America, South America
Climatic region	Climate according to the Köppen classification	Tropical, arid, temperate, cold, polar
Spatial scale	Environmental scale of the monitoring	Site-specific, catchment, regional, ecoregion, continental, global
Temporal scale	Period of the study	Decades (<100 years), years (<10 years), months (<1 year), days (<1 month), punctual
Survey frequency	Frequency of sampling/observations in the field or laboratory	Annual, seasonal, monthly, weekly, daily, hourly, subhourly, punctual
Level of investigation	Taxonomic level of the investigation	Order, family, genus, species
Ecological unit	Investigated level of biological organization	Community, population, <sup>b</sup> gene
Organism	Type of organism investigated	Taxonomic order
Temperature conditions	Category of temperature changes	Laboratory: high temperature, temperature variation, temperature range Field: climate warming, temperature regime, constant temperature regime
Other stress	Other stresses/factors investigated	Predation, pollution, photoperiod, oxygen availability, nutrient concentration, humidity, habitat, food availability, flow, other.

<sup>a</sup>Includes water-filled containers and baths, temperature-gradient tanks, flow-through systems, microcosms and mesocosms. <sup>b</sup>Studies not referred to community or gene levels were attributed to population as individual responses were always investigated as representative of the population.

Table 3. List of the biotic responses measured in relation to temperature in the selected publications.

Effects	Biotic responses
Physiological and metabolic	Gene expression, osmoregulation ability, respiration, body size and growth rate, size at emergence, assimilation/excretion, thermal limits
Phenological	Total time of development, time and length of hatching, time and length of emergence, voltinism, colour
Fitness	Fecundity and hatching success, larval recruitment
Behavioural	Drift, migration, predation, feeding
Ecological	Richness, taxonomic composition, density, distribution, food-chain length, community structure and trophic role, secondary production
Evolutionary	Genetic diversity

were possible for a single paper, i.e. if different temperature conditions were investigated by a single publication, thus the total number of studies differs between categories and can exceed the number of publications (Table S1). To provide a comprehensive overview of the selected papers we carried out several analyses. (i) We performed a distribution analysis for each category, with the results presented in cumulative bar plots reporting the relative percentages of studies across ecosystem type, spatial and temporal scale, survey frequency, level of investigation and ecological unit as well as temperature conditions and other stresses investigated. We used pie-donuts charts to summarize the studied taxonomic groups and the types of effects and responses investigated. We performed principal components analyses (PCAs) to investigate the patterns of reported responses associated with ecosystem, temperature conditions, spatial scale, level of investigation, organism and continent (Stendera et al., 2012). (ii) To assess how the focus of thermal research has changed during the last 51 years, we plotted bubble grid charts for each subcategory of temporal scale,

spatial scale, ecological unit, and temperature conditions. (*iii*) We used the above results and a global map showing the number of studies from each country/climatic region to identify areas where thermal studies on freshwater macroinvertebrates are still needed. All statistical analyses were performed using R project software (www.R-project.org) except for pie-donuts charts that were elaborated using Python (www.python.org) and the map that was drawn in Qgis (www.qgis.org).

# **III. RESULTS**

#### (1) General overview

Our literature search identified 223 relevant publications [218 research articles and 5 reviews (Fig. 2; Tables 4 and S1)]. During the last decade, the number of publications reporting macroinvertebrate responses to temperature has increased, with a notable upturn in the number of theoretical studies.

Most studies were performed in the laboratory ( $\mathcal{N} = 128$ ), while among field studies lotic ecosystems were better represented ( $\mathcal{N} = 91$ ) compared to lentic ones ( $\mathcal{N} = 16$ ) (Fig. 3A). Most studies were carried out at a site-specific (N = 109) or catchment scale ( $\mathcal{N} = 45$ ), followed by regional, ecoregional, continental and global scales (Fig. 3B). The temporal scale covered ranged mostly from months ( $\mathcal{N} = 10\overline{3}$ ) to years  $(\mathcal{N} = 59)$ , with fewer studies employing shorter or longer periods (Fig. 3C). Most studies used a daily or a monthly survey frequency ( $\mathcal{N} = 57$  and  $\mathcal{N} = 52$ , respectively) followed by weekly or shorter intervals, although 41 studies did not provide the relevant information (Fig. 3D). Investigations at the species level were most common ( $\mathcal{N} = 191$ ) (Fig. 3E). Population (N = 151) and community (N = 59) studies were most prevalent, with gene-level studies relatively rare ( $\mathcal{N} = 8$ ) (Fig. 3F). In laboratory studies, macroinvertebrates were commonly exposed to different temperature ranges  $(\mathcal{N} = 120)$  or to temperatures that approached their upper thermal limits ( $\mathcal{N} = 16$ ). Field studies tended to focus on the



Fig. 2. Number of publications (N = 223) on aquatic macroinvertebrate responses to temperature per year from 1970 to 2020.

Effect	Biotic response	Overall natterns	References
Physiological and metabolic	Gene expression	Temperature influences the expression of genes involved in thermal regulation and their speed of realization.	Chou <i>et al.</i> (2018); * Ebner <i>et al.</i> (2019); Hotaling <i>et al.</i> (2020); Karouna-Renier & Zehr (1999); Kim <i>et al.</i> (2017); Lencioni <i>et al.</i> (2013); Lopez-Martinez <i>et al.</i> (2008); Martín-Folgar <i>et al.</i> (2015); * Schmeller <i>et al.</i> (2018): Swaeeers <i>et al.</i> (2020): Teets <i>et al.</i> (2013)
	Osmoregulation ability	Higher temperatures imply higher osmotic concentration of haemolymph in aquatic arthronods.	Colburn (1983); * Orr & Buchwalter (2020)
	Respiration	Respiration rates increase with temperature.	* Bergström <i>et al.</i> (2010); Burton <i>et al.</i> (1976); Forster <i>et al.</i> (2012); Hamburger <i>et al.</i> (1994); Howell & Voshell (1982); Jones <i>et al.</i> (2018); Kim <i>et al.</i> (2017); Modlin & Jayne (1981); Rotvit & Jacobsen (2013); * Sinsabaueh (1997): Sweenev (1978)
	Body size and growth rate	Growth rate increases with warming until an optimum temperature, beyond which it declines. Females may invest resources into fecundity at the expense of the	Abbott (2013); * Atkinson (1994, 1995); * Bergmann (1847); Bottová <i>et al.</i> (2013 <i>a, b</i> ); Brittain (1983); Brittain <i>et al.</i> (1984); Brittain & Mutch (1984); Chadwick & Feminella (2001); Chavez <i>et al.</i> (2015); Cogo <i>et al.</i> (2020); Corkum & Hanes (1992); Culler <i>et al.</i> (2014); Elliott (1987); Fahy (1973); Fenoglio <i>et al.</i> (2005); * Forster <i>et al.</i> (2012); Frouz <i>et al.</i> (2002); Fuller & Fry (1991); Giberson &
		growth of somatic tissues, so females may be smaller than males in warm conditions.	Kosenberg (1992 <i>a</i> ); Gresens (1997); Hamburger <i>et al.</i> (1994); Hassall (2013); Hauer & Benke (1991); Hayashi (1988, 1996); Hines <i>et al.</i> (2016); * Horne <i>et al.</i> (2015, 2018); Howell & Voshell (1982); Humpesch (1981); Huryn (1996); Imholt <i>et al.</i> (2010); Ingram (1976); * Kingsolver & Huey (2008); Krishnaraj & Pritchard (1995); Leggott & Pritchard (1985); Li <i>et al.</i> (2009);
			<ul> <li>Lillehammer (1985, 1986); Maier et al. (1990); Markarian (1980); Martins et al. (2016); McCafferty &amp; Pereira (1984); McKie &amp; Cranston (2005); McKie &amp; Pearson (2006); McKie et al. (2004); Mochizuki et al. (2006); Moody et al. (2017); Muthukrishnan et al. (1988); Newell &amp; Minshall (1978); Nilsson-Örtman et al. (2013a, b, 2012, 2014); Ouahsine et al. (1996); Perry et al. (1987); Péry &amp; Garric (2006); Pickup &amp; Thompson (1990); Piggott et al. (2015); Pritchard &amp; Pelchat (1977);</li> </ul>
			Pritchard & Zloty (1994); Procter (1973); Rader & Ward (1990); Rempel & Carter (1987); Reynolds & Benke (2005); Rosillon (1988); Sarvala (1979); Scherr <i>et al.</i> (2010); Śniegula <i>et al.</i> (2019); Söderström (1988); Starr & McIntyre (2020); Stoks <i>et al.</i> (2012); Storey (1987); Suhling
			<i>et al.</i> (2015); Supma <i>et al.</i> (2020); Sweeney (1978); Sweeney & Vannote (1978, 1984, 1986); Sweeney <i>et al.</i> (1986 <i>a</i> , <i>b</i> ); Turner & Williams (2005); Tüzün <i>et al.</i> (2017); Van Doorslaer & Stoks (2005 <i>a</i> , <i>b</i> ); * Verberk <i>et al.</i> (2021); Vogt <i>et al.</i> (2007); Wagner (1990, 2005); Wright <i>et al.</i> (1982); Zimmerman & Wissing (1978)
	Size at emergence	High temperatures lead to faster growth and smaller emergence size due to accelerated metabolism. Low temperatures slow down the growth rate	<ul> <li>Abbott (2013); Brittain (1983); Chacón <i>et al.</i> (2016); Farkas <i>et al.</i> (2013); Giberson &amp;</li> <li>Rosenberg (1992<i>a</i>); Hayashi (1988, 1996); Jonsson <i>et al.</i> (2015); Langford (1975); McCauley</li> <li><i>et al.</i> (2015, 2018); Rosillon (1988); Śniegula <i>et al.</i> (2019); Söderström (1988); Sweeney &amp;</li> <li>Vannote (1978, 1986); Sweeney <i>et al.</i> (1986, Tumer &amp; Williams (2015). Wonolersek <i>et al.</i> (2020)</li> </ul>
		potentially leading to larger emergence size. Temperature can promote sexual size dimorphism.	
	Assimilation/ excretion	Higher temperatures enhance ingestion and excretion rates.	Anderson et al. (2017); Beracko & Revajová (2019); Bottová et al. (2013a,b); Culler et al. (2014); Martins et al. (2020); Moody et al. (2017); Muthukrishnan et al. (1988); Pandian et al. (1979); Péry & Garric (2006); Pickup & Thompson (1990); Stoks et al. (2012); Thompson (1978); Van Doorslaer
	Thermal limits	Stenothermal invertebrates occupy a small temperature range while eurytherms	& Stoks (2005a); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2008); Zimmerman & Wissing (1978) * Brett (1952); Burton <i>et al.</i> (1976); Chadwick & Feminella (2001); Chou <i>et al.</i> (2018); Collier & Smith (2000); Cox & Rutherford (2000); * Dallas & Ketley (2011); * Dallas & Rivers-Moore (2012);
			(Continues on next page)

Table 4. Responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature summarized from the studies included in our database. Additional references not included in the database are iden-

Effect	Biotic response	Overall patterns	References
		occupy wider ranges. Tropical species have narrower thermal tolerances compared to temperate ones.	Danks (1978); Dickson & Walker (2015); Elliott (1987); Giberson & Rosenberg (1992a); Hotaling et al. (2020); Martin et al. (1976); McKie & Pearson (2006); McKie et al. (2004); Mochizuki et al. (2006); * Niedrist & Füreder (2020); * Polato et al. (2018); Rogowski & Stewart (2016); Rosillon (1988); Sawchyn & Church (1973); * Shah et al. (2017); Sherberger et al. (1977); Shoup & Houghton (2013); * Stewart et al. (2013); Suhling et al. (2017); Sweeney & Vannote (1986); Sussensen et al. (2013); Suhling et al. (2017); Sherberger et al. (1977); Shoup & Houghton (2013); * Stewart et al. (2017); Suhling et al. (2015); Sweeney & Vannote (1986);
Phenological	Total time of development	High temperatures shorten the development time, leading to more rapid emergence.	<ul> <li>Abott (2013); Abdullahi &amp; Laybourn-Parry (1985); Bayoh &amp; Lindsay (2003); Beracko &amp; Revajová (2019); Elliott (1987); Fahy (1973); Frouz <i>et al.</i> (2002); Hauer &amp; Benke (1991); Humpesch (1981); Huryn (1996); Inholt <i>et al.</i> (2010); Li <i>et al.</i> (2009); Mackay (1984); Maier <i>et al.</i> (1990); Marten (1990); McKite &amp; Pearson (2006); Markay (1990); McKite &amp; Pearson (2006); McKite (1990); McKite &amp; Pearson (2006); McKite (2019); Söderström (1988); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1984); Sonegul <i>et al.</i> (2019); Söderström (1988); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1984); Sweeney <i>et al.</i> (2019); Söderström (1988); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1984); Sweeney <i>et al.</i> (1971); Mcanner (1980); Mcarten (1980); Mcanner (1980); Mcanner (1980); Mcanner (1980); Mcanner (1980); Mcanner (1980); Sonegul <i>et al.</i> (2019); Söderström (1980); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1984); Sweeney <i>et al.</i> (1971); Mcanner (1980); Mcanner (1980); Mcanner (1980); Sonegul <i>et al.</i> (1971);</li> </ul>
	Time and length of hatching	Hatching time decreases at higher temperatures. Low temperatures lengthen the hatching period and induce diapause.	Abdullahi & Laybourn-Parry (1985); Bohle (1972); Bouton <i>et al.</i> (2011); Brittain (1977, 1991); Brittain & Laybourn-Parry (1985); Bohle (1972); Bruton <i>et al.</i> (2011); Brittain (1977, 1991); (1992); Elliott (1972, 1978, 1986, 1987); Friesen <i>et al.</i> (1979); Frouz <i>et al.</i> (2002); Giberson & Rosenberg (1992b); Gillooly & Dodson (2000a); Gong <i>et al.</i> (2002); Humpesch & Elliott (1980); Humpesch (1980a, 1982); Ichikawa <i>et al.</i> (2017); Leggott & Pritchard (1985); Lillehammer (1985, 1986)); Maier <i>et al.</i> (1990); Marten (1990); Mendonça <i>et al.</i> (2018); Muthukrishnan <i>et al.</i> (2018); Sarvala (1979); Sawchyn & Church (1973); Strange (1985); Sweeney & Vannote (1984); Zwick (1996)
	Time and length of emergence	Increasing temperatures lead to earlier emergence.	<ul> <li>Abdullahi &amp; Laybourn-Parry (1985); Chaćon et al. (2016); Cheney et al. (2019); Čmrlec et al. (2013);</li> <li>Abdullahi &amp; Laybourn-Parry (1985); Danks (1978); Dickson &amp; Walker (2015); Dingemanse &amp; Kalkman (2008); Elliott (1987); Everall et al. (2015); Frouz et al. (2002); Hassall et al. (2007); Hayashi (1988, 1996); Ihuryn (1996); Ihnolt et al. (2010); Ingram (1976); Ivković et al. (2013); Jonsson et al. (2015); Killian &amp; Lutz (1985); Langford (1975); Leggott &amp; Pritchard (1985); Li et al. (2009); Lutz (1974); Maiter et al. (1990); McCafferty &amp; Pereira (1984); McCauley et al. (2015); 2018); McKie &amp; Pearson (2006); Nebeker (1971); Perry et al. (1987); Péry &amp; Garric (2006); Piggott et al. (2015); Pritchard &amp; Zloty (1994); Procter (1971); Perry et al. (1987); Richter et al. (2015); Starr &amp; McIntyre (2020); Supina et al. (2020); Sweeney (1978); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1986); Natanabe et al. (2020); Supina et al. (2020); Sweeney (1978); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1986); Sweeney et al. (1993); Trottier (1971, 1973a, b); Villalobos-Jinnenez &amp; Hassall (2017); Vogt et al. (2007); Watanabe et al. (2000); Mvicht, et al. (2020); Sweeney (1978); Sweeney &amp; Vannote (1986); Sweeney et al. (2020); Sweeney et al. (2020);</li></ul>
	Voltinism	Higher temperatures favour a flexible life cycle and increase voltinism. Low temperatures cause longer developmental time and favour a mivolfine cycle	Received. With the function of the function o
	Colour	Temperature may interfere with colour regulation.	Abbott (2013); Bouton et al. (2011); Hayashi (1988); McCafferty & Pereira (1984)
			(Continues on next page)

Table 4. (Cont.)

Effect	Biotic response	Overall patterns	References
Fitness	Fecundity and hatching success	Fitness is maximized at the optimal temperature. Elevated temperatures imply lower fecundity and faster hatching accompanied by a lower hatching success. Low temperatures promote large broods and higher fecundity in females.	Bayoh & Lindsay (2003); Bovill <i>et al.</i> (2019); Brittain (1977, 1991); Britta Brittain <i>et al.</i> (1984); Corkum & Hanes (1992); Elliott (1972, 1987, 198 Giberson & Rosenberg (1992 <i>a</i> , <i>b</i> ); Gillooly & Dodson (2000 <i>a</i> ); Gong <i>et</i> Elliott (1980); Humpesch (1992, 1981, 1980 <i>a</i> , <i>b</i> ); Ichikawa <i>et al.</i> (2017); K Pritchard (1985); Lillehammer (1985, 1986); Marten (1990); McKie & Minshall (1978); Péry & Garric (2006); Pritchard & Zloty (1994); R: Rempel & Carter (1987); Rosillon (1988); Koss-Gillespie <i>et al.</i> (2018); Church (1973); Söderström (1988); Starr & McIntyre (2020); Strange Sweney & Vannote (1978, 1984); Sweeney <i>et al.</i> (1986); Tennessen <i>et</i> Schler Konsta, Wacher, <i>et al.</i> (1000); Tennessen <i>et al.</i> (1000); Strange
	Larval recruitment	Juvenile recruitment increases with temperature increase; at low temperatures hatching is inhibited.	<ul> <li>&amp; Stoks (2003b); Wright et al. (1982); Zwick (1996)</li> <li>Abbott (2013); Brittain (1991); Brittain et al. (1984); Chavez et al. (2015); Danks (1978); Giberson &amp; Rosenberg (1992b); Ingram (1976); Killian et al. (2013); Marten (1990); Martins et al. (2016); McCauley et al. (2014) et al. (2014); Pritchard &amp; Pelchat (1977); Śniegula et al. (2019); Storey ( Triwith et al. (2017); Van Doorslaar, &amp; Stoke (2005h), Wricht et al. (1082)</li> </ul>
Behavioural	Migration	Macroinvertebrates migrate to locate their	Shah $a$ $a$ $(2020)$ ; Sherberger $a$ $a$ $(1977)$ ; Trottier (1973b); Van Doorsle Watter (1973b); Van Doorsle Van
	Drift	Thermopeaking and high temperatures cause drift.	<ul> <li>* Bruno &amp; al. (2012); * Carolli et al. (2012); Coler &amp; Kondratieff (1989);</li> <li>* Durrett &amp; Pearson (1975); Piggott et al. (2015); Raddum (1985); Scher et al. (2016); Woitalik &amp; Waters (1970)</li> </ul>
	Predation	Predators may be more vulnerable to increasing temperature than their prey. Elevated temperatures compromise hunting capacity but also reduce avoidance ability in prey.	* Kishi et al. (2005); MacPhee et al. (2011); McKie & Pearson (2006); Que Rogowski & Stewart (2016); Sherberger et al. (1977); Smolinský & Gvo (2019)
	Feeding	At higher temperatures macroinvertebrates require more food/better food quality.	Bottová <i>et al.</i> (2013 <i>a</i> ); Gordon <i>et al.</i> (2018); Krishnaraj & Pritchard (1995 Iunior (2017): Pandian <i>et al.</i> (1979): Pickup & Thompson (1990): Snies
Ecological	Richness	The number of species generally increases with increasing annual temperature ranges. The highest temperatures lead to an impoverished community with better survival of eurythermal and generalist species. Global warming facilitates the extinction of stenothermal species.	Arai <i>et al.</i> (2015); Arthur <i>et al.</i> (1982); Barquin & Death (2011); Besacier (2007); * Castella <i>et al.</i> (2001); Chinnayakanahalli <i>et al.</i> (2011); Čmrlec <i>et</i> (2014); Conit <i>et al.</i> (2014); Dudgeon <i>et al.</i> (2020); Durance & Ormerod Cooper (1998); Feuchtmayr <i>et al.</i> (2007); Floury <i>et al.</i> (2013); Glazier (2 Gustafson (2008); Jackson <i>et al.</i> (2007); Jou (2011); Nyquist <i>et al.</i> (2000); Poff <i>et al.</i> (2010); Rasmussen (1982); Salve (2014); Voel2 <i>et al.</i> (2015); Werlborn & Robi <i>et al.</i> (2017); Jou (2011); Nyquist <i>et al.</i> (2010); Rasmussen (1982); Salve (2014); Voel2 <i>et al.</i> (2015); Werlborn & Robi <i>et al.</i> (2015); Finite (2015); Merlborn & Robi <i>et al.</i> (2015); Finite (2015); Merlborn & Robi <i>et al.</i> (2015); Voel1 <i>et al.</i> (2015); Voel1 <i>et al.</i> (2015); Veel1 <i>et </i>
	Taxonomic composition	The macroinvertebrate community is generally more diversified in ecosystems characterized by wide daily and seasonal temperature variation. Global warming leads to homogenization of macroinvertebrate communities.	Arai et al. (2015); Arthur et al. (1982); Barquín & Death (2011); Besacier et (2007); Cerini et al. (2020); Chinnayakanahalli et al. (2011); Čmrlec et al. (2007); Cerini et al. (2020); Chinnayakanahalli et al. (2014); Cooper (2007); Teordratieff (1989); Contador et al. (2014); Coonjer (2020); Durance & Ormerod (2007, 2009); Feuchtmayr et al. (2007); Fernaroli et al. (2020); Gustafson (2008); Haidekker & Hering (2008); Ja et al. (2018); Munari (2011); Nyquist et al. (2020); Piggott et al. (2015); P

& Pearson (2006); Newell arvala (1979); Sawchyn & (1985); Sweeney (1978); al. (1982); Van Doorslaer nta Herrera *et al.* (2018); \* nholt et al. (2010); Leggott Corkum & Hanes (1992); , 2018); Nilsson-Örtman 987); Šupina et al. (2020); édík (2014); Śniegula et al. et al. (2010); \* Schülting ); Navarro & Gonçalves al. (2002); Humpesch & & Lutz (1985); Lencioni 6); Friesen et al. (1979); n & Campbell (1991); ); Zwick (1996) er & Stoks (2005*a*); \* Oudgeon et al. (2020); der & Ward (1990); ula *et al.* (2019)

2007, 2009); Eversham & 112); Gordon et al. (2018); rdan et al. (2018); Munari t et al. (1994); Sandin et al. nson (1996); Worthington t al. (2019); Burgmer et al. al. (2013); Contador et al.

loury *et al.* (2013); \* ckson *et al.* (2007);Jourdan ff et al. (2010); Rasmussen (1982); Saltveit et al. (1994); Sandin et al. (2014); Voelz et al. (1994); Worthington et al. (2015); Živić t al. (2019); Burgmer et al. 1980); Dudgeon et al. l. (2013); Coler & et al. (2014)

Effect	Biotic response	Overall patterns	References
	Density	Temperature changes lead to alterations in species density depending on each species' thermal niche. Global warming increases the abundance of generalist species at the expenses of the stenothermal ones.	<ul> <li>Arai <i>et al.</i> (2015); Arthur <i>et al.</i> (1982); Barquín &amp; Death (2011); Besacier <i>et al.</i> (2007); Cheney <i>et al.</i> (2019); Čmrlec <i>et al.</i> (2013); Coler &amp; Kondratieff (1989); Contador <i>et al.</i> (2007); Cheney <i>et al.</i> (2014); Conper (1980); Dudgeon <i>et al.</i> (2013); Durance &amp; Ormerod (2007); 2009); Durance &amp; I(1975); Feuchmart <i>et al.</i> (2007); Floury <i>et al.</i> (2013); Gherson &amp; Rosenberg (1992a); Guatsfor (2008); Haidekker &amp; Hering (2008); Jackson <i>et al.</i> (2007); Panarce &amp; Vard (1990); Rasmussen (1982); Sandin <i>et al.</i> (2010); Raddum (1985); Rader &amp; Ward (1990); Rasmussen (1982); Sandin <i>et al.</i> (2014); Voelz <i>et al.</i> (1994); Wagner (2005); Wellborn &amp; Robinson (1996); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2008); Morthineton <i>et al.</i> (2015); Sandin <i>et al.</i> (2018); Nucleiz <i>et al.</i> (2016); Raddum (1985); Rader &amp; Word (1990); Rasmussen (1982); Sandin <i>et al.</i> (2018); Worthineton <i>et al.</i> (2018); Worthineton <i>et al.</i> (2018); Magner (2005); Wellborn &amp; Robinson (1996); Wagner (2005); Wellborn &amp; Robinson (1996); Worthineton <i>et al.</i> (2018); Morthineton <i>et al.</i> (2018); Morthineton <i>et al.</i> (2018); Magner (2005); Wellborn &amp; Robinson (1996); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2018); Morthineton <i>et al.</i> (2018); Morthin</li></ul>
	Distribution	Distribution is influenced by a species' thermal optimum. Temperature changes affect the ecological niche occupied by the species promoting shifts in their distribution. Increasing temperatures cause the upstream spread of eurythermal species and reduce the habitat available for stanothermal species	Arai <i>et al.</i> (2015); Baker & Feltmate (1989); Besacier <i>et al.</i> (2019); Cerini <i>et al.</i> (2020); Cheney <i>et al.</i> (2019); Chessman (2012); Chinnayakanahalli <i>et al.</i> (2011); Čmrlec <i>et al.</i> (2013); Conti <i>et al.</i> (2014); Cooper (1980); * Domish <i>et al.</i> (2011); Durance & Ormerod (2007); Eversham & Cooper (1988); Fenoglio <i>et al.</i> (2010); Haidekker & Hering (2008); Hering <i>et al.</i> (2009); * Mustonen <i>et al.</i> (2018); Nilsson-Ortman <i>et al.</i> (2012, 2013); Nyquist <i>et al.</i> (2010); Pires <i>et al.</i> (2019); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2010); Vilsson-Ortman <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2010); Vinterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2014); Silva <i>et al.</i> (2019); Sindgerath <i>et al.</i> (2012); Timoner <i>et al.</i> (2020); Winterbourn <i>et al.</i> (2008)
	Food-chain length	Elevated temperatures cause an abrupt decline in food-chain length; below a critical threshold the relationship between food-chain length and temperature is not linear	* Arim <i>et al.</i> (2007 <i>b</i> ); Glazier (2012)
	Community structure and trophic role	Temperature alterations may lead to Temperature alterations may lead to changes in the composition of functional feeding groups. Grazers and scrapers annear especially witherable to warming	Jonsson <i>et al.</i> (2015); Jourdan <i>et al.</i> (2018); * Pyne & Poff (2017); Sandin <i>et al.</i> (2014); Živić <i>et al.</i> (2014)
	Secondary production	Secondary production does not depend directly on temperature, although temperature can impact resource supply with effects on secondary moduction	Bottová <i>et al.</i> (2013 <i>a</i> ); Ferreira <i>at al.</i> (2015); Humpesch (1981); * Junker <i>et al.</i> (2020); Newell & Minshall (1978); Patrick <i>et al.</i> (2019); Perry <i>et al.</i> (1987); Rader & Ward (1990); Sweeney & Vannote (1986)
Evolutionary	Genetic diversity	Temperature acts at an evolutionary secale causing thermal divergence in populations, promoting genetic divergence or causing fragmentation and temporal isolation leading to loss of genetic diversity.	* Bálint <i>et al.</i> (2011); * Chapman (2013); Herzog & Hadrys (2017); Johansson <i>et al.</i> (2016); Jordan <i>et al.</i> (2016); Stoks <i>et al.</i> (2014); Swaegers <i>et al.</i> (2020); Vogt <i>et al.</i> (2007)

Biological Reviews (2022) 000–000 © 2022 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Table 4. (Cont.)



**Fig. 3.** Distribution plots showing: the percentage of studies for each ecosystem type (A), spatial scale (B), temporal scale (C), survey frequency (D), level of investigation (E), ecological unit (F), temperature conditions (G) and other stresses (H).

temperature regime (N = 74), with a small number investigating the constant-temperature regime of springs (N = 7), or climate warming (N = 20) (Fig. 3G). Of other stresses associated with temperature by these studies (N = 66), the most common were food (both quality and quantity) (N = 19), photoperiod (N = 9), presence of predators (N = 7), flow regime (N = 6) and oxygen availability (N = 6) (Fig. 3H).

Insects were the taxon studied most often ( $\mathcal{N} = 338$ ) followed by Malacostraca ( $\mathcal{N} = 24$ ) Clitellata ( $\mathcal{N} = 10$ ) and Gastropoda ( $\mathcal{N} = 8$ ) (Fig. 4). Among insects, the majority of studies investigated Ephemeroptera ( $\mathcal{N} = 80$ ), Odonata ( $\mathcal{N} = 61$ ), Trichoptera, Diptera and Plecoptera ( $\mathcal{N} = 57$ , 57, 55, respectively). Among other groups, the most popular orders were Amphipoda ( $\mathcal{N} = 11$ ), Isopoda ( $\mathcal{N} = 8$ ) and Littorinimorpha ( $\mathcal{N} = 5$ ) (Fig. 4).

Among the biotic responses measures with respect to water temperature (N = 525, Table 3), physiological and metabolic responses were studied most extensively (N = 163) followed by phenological and ecological (N = 132), fitness (N = 70), and behavioural responses (N = 24) (Fig. 5). Among these categories, the most investigated responses were body size and growth rate (N = 85), time and length of emergence (N = 49), fecundity and hatching success (N = 47), time and length of hatching (N = 39), density, richness, and taxonomic composition (N = 34, 31, 31, respectively), total time of development (N = 29), distribution and larval recruitment (N = 25, 23, respectively) (Fig. 5).

PCA was useful to reduce the information provided by the multidimensional data set to investigate and interpret the clustering of temperature responses, examine patterns and identify potential research gaps. The results of PCA on the frequency of responses showed two main clusters, one related to biological responses (Dim1) and the other related to ecological responses (Dim2) (Fig. 6). Taxonomic composition, richness, distribution, and density were often strongly associated with each other, as were physiological and metabolic, phenological and fitness responses although there were more variable patterns of association depending on the category considered. Biological responses were generally evaluated through laboratory experiments while ecological responses were most associated with field surveys (rivers). Also, voltinism was assessed in rivers (Fig. 6A). The temperature conditions PCA exhibited the same pattern with biological responses mainly assessed exposing organisms to different temperature ranges (and to a lesser extent to temperature variation and constant temperature regime) (Dim1) while ecological responses were related to temperature regime and, secondly, climate warming (Dim2). Size at emergence, time and length of emergence, total time of development and body size and growth rate were shared between both axes (Fig. 6B). Ecological responses were studied at catchment or regional scale while biological responses (time and length of emergence, fecundity, time and length of



Fig. 4. Pie-donut chart showing the relative proportions of specific organisms investigated (N = 390). The internal ring refers to classes, the external ring refers to orders.

hatching, size at emergence, larval recruitment and thermal limits) were investigated through site-specific surveys (Fig. 6C). For biological responses, macroinvertebrates were identified at species level while most investigations were at family level for ecological studies (Fig. 6D). Among the different orders, Ephemeroptera and Plecoptera were mainly associated with studies on growth, time and length of emergence, fecundity, time and length of hatching, total time of development and thermal limits while Odonata were related to studies on larval recruitment, size at emergence, assimilation/excretion and voltinism. Trichoptera and Diptera were mainly considered in ecological studies focusing on taxonomic composition, richness, and density (Fig. 6E). Finally, ecological responses such as distribution, taxonomic composition, and richness but also responses in other categories, including voltinism, feeding and assimilation/excretion, were mainly investigated in Europe while thermal limits, time and length of emergence,

secondary production, respiration and gene expression were more common in North America. Studies regarding growth, fecundity, larval recruitment, total time of development, predation and density were carried out in both continents (Fig. 6F).

# (2) Trends in thermal research during the last 50 years

During recent years, the spatial scale of studies has increased, especially in the last 15 years (Fig. 7A), although site-specific studies remain most common. Similarly, long-term investigations (decades) of the effects of temperature have appeared relatively recently (Fig. 7B), likely due to the increasing availability of long-term biomonitoring data sets.

Regarding the ecological unit of study, investigations of the genetic and evolutionary effects of temperature changes have appeared more recently than studies on the effects at



Fig. 5. Pie-donut chart showing the relative proportions of responses investigated (N = 525) grouped by type of effect. The internal ring refers to effects; the external ring refers to responses.

population or community levels and remain less common (Fig. 8A). Investigations of the effects of climate change also are relatively new but represent 17% of all publications in our database since 2006 (Fig. 8B).

There is an unequal distribution of study sites ( $\mathcal{N} = 245$ ) across the different climatic regions of the world, with temperate ( $\sim 57\%$ ) and cold ( $\sim 28\%$ ) regions best represented, followed by tropical, arid and polar ( $\sim 5\%$ ) (Fig. 9). Most studies ( $\mathcal{N} = 192$ ) have been carried out in Europe ( $\sim 41\%$ ) and North America ( $\sim 38\%$ ), with the rest of the world poorly represented ( $\mathcal{N} = 53$ ) (Fig. 9).

# IV. RESPONSES OF MACROINVERTEBRATES TO WATER TEMPERATURE

Table 4 provides a summary of responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature.

#### (1) Physiological and metabolic effects

#### (a) Gene expression

Stressful environmental conditions such as heating induce the expression of several genes that control the activity of the heat-shock proteins (HSPs). The reviewed papers that reported genetic responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature changes all recorded upregulation or downregulation of different genes, including HSP genes (Karouna-Renier & Zehr, 1999; Lencioni *et al.*, 2013). For example, when subjected to heat-induced stress, *Chironomus riparius* (Diptera) did not activate or repressed some HSP genes (e.g. HSP22) while others were activated (HSP23, HSP24, HSP34, HSP27 and HSP70) suggesting that the HSP subfamily possesses remarkable functional differentiation in response to stressful temperature conditions (Martín-Folgar *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, Chou *et al.* (2018) observed that *Neocloeon triangulifer* (Ephemeroptera) larvae bred at a chronic threshold (30 °C)



**Fig. 6.** Results of principal components analysis (PCA) of recorded biotic responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature across ecosystem type (A), temperature conditions (B), spatial scale (C), level of investigation (D), organism type (E), and continent (F). Variance explained (%) is shown in parentheses. Arrows represent the frequency of responses, grouped by colour depending on the type of effects (see Table 3 and Fig. 5). Physiological and metabolic responses: gene expression (G.EX), osmoregulation ability (O.AB), respiration (RES), body size and growth rate (GRO), size at emergence (S.EM), assimilation/excretion (A/E), thermal limits (T.LI); phenological responses: total time of development (T.DE), time and length of hatching (T.HA), time and length of emergence (T.EM), voltinism (VOL), colour (COL); fitness responses: fecundity and hatching success (FEC), larval recruitment (L.RE); behavioural responses: drift (DRI), migration (MIG), predation (PRE), feeding (FEE); ecological responses: richness (RIC), taxonomic composition (COM), density (DEN), distribution (DIS), food-chain length (F.CH), community structure and trophic role (TRO), secondary production (S.PR); and evolutionary responses: genetic diversity (G.DI).



**Fig. 7.** Bubble charts showing the number of studies from 1970 to 2020 that recorded responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature at specific temporal (A) (N = 229) and spatial (B) scales (N = 218).



Fig. 8. Bubble charts showing the number of studies from 1970 to 2020 that recorded responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature separated by ecological unit recorded (A) (N = 218) and temperature conditions (B) (N = 245).

upregulated indicators of thermal stress (HSP90) but not genes sensitive to hypoxia [egg laying defective 9 (EGL-9) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH)], indicating that the upper chronic thermal limit is not set by oxygen availability. Chronic thermal stress can lead to reductions in body size and fitness through reduced food intake, which results from the upregulation of genes producing histamine and dopamine (Chou et al., 2018). Upregulation of HSP70 has also been observed in stenotherm species [Lednia sp. (Plecoptera) and Crunoecia irrorata (Coleoptera)] in their natural temperature range, indicating that the thermal niche they occupy may not be optimal due to other limiting factors such as biotic interactions or resource availability (Hotaling et al., 2020; Ebner, Ritz & von Fumetti, 2019). This challenges the assumption that the distribution of insects in cold habitats reflects evolved preferences for those temperature

conditions. Teets et al. (2013) reported upregulation of genes involved in both glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis in Belgica antarctica midges in response to heat and cold stress, suggesting that insects exposed to extreme environmental conditions mobilize carbohydrate energy stocks to allow rapid shifts in metabolism. Hotaling et al. (2020), studying high-altitude stoneflies exposed to their CT<sub>max</sub>, identified upregulation of genes involved in the developmental transition [ATP binding cassette subfamily A member 3 (ABCA3) and hexamerins (HEXA)]. Studies on gene expression allow us to understand the physiological mechanisms underlying organismal responses to temperature changes and are imperative for correct interpretation of the causes driving biological responses at different levels, for example, to disentangle and evolutionary responses behavioural (Hotaling et al., 2020; Schmeller et al., 2018). As stated by Clarke



Fig. 9. World map showing climatic regions and the number of studies per country/state (N = 245).

(2003) we can identify the relationships between cellular thermal physiology and organismal physiology as well as between some macroecological patterns and temperatures, however, we are still unable to relate thermal physiology to ecology at the community scale, despite this link likely being a strong determinant of life-history traits, food-web dynamics, and biological diversity.

# (b) Osmoregulation ability

Temperature affects the regulation of haemolymph osmotic and ionic concentrations in invertebrates. In general, increasing temperatures increase ion transport rates (Orr & Buchwalter, 2020). We found only one study on macroinvertebrate osmoregulation in which Colburn (1983) observed that larvae of *Limnephilus assimilis* (Trichoptera) exposed to a wide salinity range (0–25%) could complete their development at low temperature because cellular Cl<sup>-</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> were maintained at low concentrations. On the contrary, at high temperatures (for example in hydrothermal water) they were unable to control Cl<sup>-</sup> intake, leading to lower survival and decreased ability to complete development.

# (c) Respiration

As for all biological processes, respiration rate is positively correlated with temperature (Sinsabaugh, 1997), hence higher temperatures enhance the oxygen consumption of invertebrates, as shown by Bergström *et al.* (2010) for species in lake sediments. At higher temperatures, larger amounts of energy are required for metabolic maintenance, for both respiration and assimilation, compared to at the thermal optimum (Sweeney & Vannote, 1978; Vannote & Sweeney, 1980). However, due to the decrease in oxygen solubility with increasing temperature, oxygen availability is reduced simultaneously with this greater respiratory requirement (Forster, Hirst & Atkinson, 2012). The sensitivity of species to this decrease in oxygen availability varies depending on the taxon. Some species such as Leuctra hippopus (Plecoptera) and Asellus aquaticus (Isopoda) can maintain a constant respiration rate independent of ambient oxygen levels (below a critical limit) (Rotvit & Jacobsen, 2013; Kim et al., 2017), whereas others, such as Isoperla spp. (Plecoptera) show a higher oxygen consumption with increasing temperature and a respiratory rate that is proportionally greater in larger species (Modlin & Jayne, 1981). Some chironomid species [e.g. Chironomus anthracinus (Diptera)] can shift from aerobic metabolism to partially anaerobic (Hamburger, Dall & Lindegaard, 1994) as temperature increases (from 2 to  $20 \,^{\circ}$ C).

#### (d) Body size, growth rates and size at emergence

Growth and adult body size depend on several processes regulated by temperature such as rates of ingestion, assimilation, metabolism, and excretion. Sweeney & Vannote (1978) conceptualized this temperature–growth–size relationship in their TEH according to which maximum adult size is achieved at a thermal optimum while outside this optimal range body size is reduced. Several studies have demonstrated that higher temperatures can cause acceleration of metabolism and consequently lower investment in growth, leading to premature adult development. On the contrary, at low temperatures, metabolic activity is slowed down, allowing a greater proportion of adult tissue maturation (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980; Sweeney & Vannote, 1978, Brittain, 1983; Rempel & Carter, 1987; Sweeney, Vannote & Dodds, 1986*a*). The size–temperature relationship is generally assessed in laboratory studies, in which organisms are bred at a constant temperature and measured and weighed at frequent intervals (typically 1-3 days). Morphological traits considered include total length, head capsule width, thorax length, pronotal length, wing length, leg length, antennal length, and body mass, depending on the taxon and developmental stage. The observed temperature-body size relationship often follows an exponential curve (Brittain, 1983; Giberson & 1992*a*: Sweenev & Vannote, Rosenberg, 1984: Revnolds & Benke, 2005; Rempel & Carter, 1987). Growth rates are calculated from the change in body size (both length and mass) for specific intervals of the developmental period. The temperature-body size relationship can also be studied in relation to sex and or lifecycle phase. Some experiments have shown that at high temperatures females reach smaller adult sizes than males suggesting that somatic growth is traded off against reproductive capacity (Rempel & Carter, 1987; McKie, Cranston & Pearson, 2004) while in other studies sexual dimorphism appears unaffected by temperature, with other factors such as sexual selection or fertility playing an important role (Lande, 1980; Encalada et al., 2019).

Although some evidence shows that higher temperatures lead to smaller adult body size (in agreement with the TEH), other studies on both terrestrial and aquatic ectotherms found a maximal adult size only at the coldest extreme of the species' thermal tolerance range and not at some intermediate temperature (conflicting with the TEH) (Atkinson, 1994, 1995; Sweeney et al., 2018). Such observations led to the development of the temperature size rule (TSR) (Atkinson, 1994), which was reformulated by Kingsolver & Huey (2008) as 'hotter is smaller'. It seems to represent a special case of Bergmann's (1847) rule according to which populations/species of larger size are found in colder environments. Subsequent studies (Forster et al., 2012; Horne, Hirst & Atkinson, 2015), reviewing a large number of temperature-body size experiments involving freshwater, marine and terrestrial species have confirmed the TSR hypothesis and showed that warming-induced reductions in adult body size are larger for aquatic ectotherms than for terrestrial ones. Recently studies have begun to investigate the drivers that explain the TSR rule. Although temperature responses appear to be outcomes of phenotypic plasticity, latitudinal size gradients could depend also on genetic factors (Horne et al., 2015). Insect temperature-body size trends observed across latitudinal clines have not been replicated across altitudinal gradients (Horne, Hirst & Atkinson, 2018). TSR explanations have focused on physiological processes (such as oxygen limitation and resource availability) and responses (shorter developmental times due to higher mortality at higher temperatures), and on ecological and evolutionary mechanisms (adaptation to temperature to maximize fitness). Many of these studies support oxygen as a significant factor (Forster et al., 2012; Verberk et al., 2021). The higher cost of oxygen uptake in warmer water and the greater demands on large bodies to maintain aerobic scope

in warmer environments both play important roles in determining adult size (Woods, 1999) and could explain the different temperature–size responses between aquatic and terrestrial organisms (Forster *et al.*, 2012) and across latitude and altitude (Horne *et al.*, 2018).

#### (e) Assimilation / excretion

High temperatures cause an increase in the fraction of energy needed for metabolism maintenance (Sweenev & Vannote, 1978), which requires greater food consumption and leads to faster gut clearance (Zimmerman & Wissing, 1978). At high temperatures, some organisms, such as Hydropsiche betteni (Trichoptera), seek better-quality food (animal material or algae instead of detritus) to cope with higher energy demands (Fuller & Fry, 1991), whereas Chironomus riparius (Diptera) and Mesogomphus lineatus (Odonata) do not show dietary changes depending on temperature (Péry & Garric, 2006: Pandian, Mathavan & Jeyagopl, 1979). Food uptake and assimilation rates increase with temperature up to the thermal optimum (Culler, McPeek & Ayres, 2014; Van Doorslaer & Stoks, 2005a; McCauley, Hammond & Mabry, 2018; Stoks, Swillen & De Block, 2012; Pandian et al., 1979; Péry & Garric, 2006).

# (f) Thermal limits

Thermal limits are usually measured in laboratory studies (Fig. 6A) by exposing organisms to temperatures increasingly distant from their optimal temperature range (Sherberger et al., 1977). Organismal death occurs when the water temperature reaches the critical thermal limits (Sherberger et al., 1977; Rogowski & Stewart, 2016; Chou et al., 2018; Sweenev et al., 1986a; Rosillon, 1988). The upper thermal tolerance can be determined by the LT<sub>50</sub> test: this threshold represents the lethal upper temperature at which 50% of individuals die in a specified time. By contrast, the incipient lethal temperature (ILT) thermal limits are based on the most extreme temperatures at which 50% of the test organisms survive indefinitely after being transferred from an acclimation temperature directly into a constant-temperature tank where time to death is measured (Brett, 1952). A less time-consuming approach that requires smaller samples is the critical thermal method (CTM) which consists of assessing the behavioural stress response, defined as the 'arithmetic mean of collected thermal points at which locomotor activity becomes disorganized to the point at which the organism loses its ability to escape conditions that will promptly lead to its death' (Lowe & Vance, 1955, p. 2). For aquatic macroinvertebrates, the response includes the inability to remain attached to the substrate and hyposensitivity to stimuli. All these methods have been employed in studies of thermal biology and a review focused on terrestrial animals comparing these different approaches is available (Lutterschmidt & Hutchison, 1997). For aquatic insects, the upper thermal limit evaluated at 96 h (96-LT<sub>50</sub>) and the  $CT_{max}$  are related by a significant positive linear relationship, establishing the CTM method for use

(Dallas & Ketley, 2011). There have been various attempts to define the thermal threshold of different aquatic macroinvertebrate taxa based on laboratory experiments on individual species or using the relationship between the macroinvertebrate assemblage and the temperature regime of the water bodies where they are found. Stewart *et al.* (2013) defined the upper thermal tolerance of 13 taxonomic groups (mainly at order level) of southwestern Australian macroinvertebrates by reviewing the existing literature and measuring  $LT_{50}$  for four key species. Dallas & Rivers-Moore (2012), using the CTM, determined the upper thermal limits for 27 families of South African macroinvertebrates. Polato et al. (2018) and Shah et al. (2017) quantified CT<sub>max</sub> and CT<sub>min</sub> of 62 EPT species from Colorado (USA) and the Andes, showing that the tropical (Andean) species had a narrower thermal tolerance than the temperate ones. Niedrist & Füreder (2020) redefined the temperature optima and thermal ranges for different species of EPT and chironomids (Diptera) using regression models for long series of water temperature data and showed that alpine benthic communities had moved to higher altitudes in the last decade due to glacial retreat.

# (2) Phenological effects

Phenological responses are related to the life cycle and the duration of developmental stages (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980; Ward & Stanford, 1982). Temperature influences the total development period as well as the number of annual cohorts, and the timing of hatching and emergence (Woods, Kaz & Giam, 2021). Understanding how temperature regulates the life history of a taxon could allow us to predict its phenological responses to climate change (Dingemanse & Kalkman, 2008; McCauley et al., 2018). The available life-history studies involve both laboratory and field experiments (Fig. 6A), with samples of macroinvertebrates observed regularly to assess the overall duration of development or that of specific stages. Moreover, the organisms are counted and/or measured (length and biomass) to understand the influence of temperature on each instar and the number of generations produced per year. In insects, phenological responses of aquatic stages are monitored by assessing embryonic time (from egg deposition to hatching), larval time (from hatching to emergence) or the entire aquatic period (from egg deposition to emergence) (Brittain, 1977; Humpesch, 1980*a*; Giberson & Rosenberg, 1992b). The developmental period of macroinvertebrates can vary from a few months up to 3 years. A species may be semivoltine, univoltine, bivoltine, trivoltine or polyvoltine where the number of broods in 1 year is <1, 1, 2, 3 or >3, respectively (Hynes, 1970). Some species can modify their developmental period in response to temperature (voltinism plasticity) (Braune et al., 2008).

#### (a) Total time of development

Several studies have shown that increasing temperature leads to shorter developmental time. Sweeney *et al.* (1986*a*) showed

that the larval development of Leptophlebia intermedia (Ephemeroptera) is shorter at higher temperatures and Sweeney & Vannote (1984) reported the same for Cloeon triangulifer (Ephemeroptera). Other studies confirmed that developmental time, within the tolerance range, decreases with increasing temperature for eurythermal species (Sarvala, 1979; Frouz, Ali & Lobinske, 2002; Bayoh & Lindsay, 2003; Imholt et al., 2010; McCauley et al., 2015). By contrast, for stenothermal species like Soyedina carolinensis (Plecoptera), the shortest developmental time ( $\sim$ 92 days) was observed at an optimal temperature ( $10 \,^{\circ}$ C), increasing at both higher (15 °C) and lower temperatures (5 °C) ( $\sim$ 109 and 141 days, respectively) (Sweeney, Vannote & Dodds, 1986b). The same pattern was observed for *Eukiefferiella ikleyensis* (Diptera), with the shortest larval stage at 14 °C compared to both higher  $(18 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  and lower  $(9 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  temperatures ( $\sim$ 71, 74 and 110 days, respectively) (Storey, 1987). The relationship between temperature and developmental time for stenothermal species can be described by a parabolic curve (Sweeney et al., 1986b; Elliott, 1987) while for eurythermal species the trend typically follows a negative exponential model (Marten, 1990) or an inverse asymptotic correlation (McKie et al., 2004). Frouz et al. (2002) reported that under increasing temperatures chironomid males developed faster than females.

### (b) Time and length of hatching

Temperature is a crucial determinant of invertebrate hatching time. In general, temperatures far from the optimal range induce diapause (Danks, 1987), an adaptation evolved by some organisms to extend the embryogenesis period until the environmental conditions are suitable (Pritchard, Harder & Mutch, 1996). The relationship between hatching time and temperature follows a decreasing trend best described by a power function (Brittain, 1977, 1982; Bohle, 1972; Brittain & Campbell, 1991; Elliott, 1986, 1972, Giberson & Rosenberg, 1992b; Humpesch, 1980a,b; Mendonça et al., 2018), or a hyperbolic power function (Elliott, 1978; Friesen, Flannagan & Lawrence, 1979), at least within the temperature tolerance range. Hatching time decreases at higher temperatures, more sharply in warmadapted species such as Odonata than in cold-adapted species such as Plecoptera (Pritchard et al., 1996; Bouton, Iserbyt & Van Gossum, 2011). Diapause is longer at high temperatures for stenothermal species; eurytherms can survive low temperatures by remaining dormant (Pritchard et al., 1996). Embryonic period is positively correlated with egg size and the relationship between these does not seem to change with temperature (in the range 10-25 °C) in both univoltine and multivoltine species of mayflies, stoneflies, caddisflies, Coleoptera, Hemiptera and dragonflies (Gillooly & Dodson, 2000b).

# (c) Time and length of emergence

Increasing temperatures typically lead to earlier emergence of insects (Nebeker, 1971; Rempel & Carter, 1987;

Vannote & Sweeney, 1980; McCauley et al., 2018). In aquatic environments characterized by a variable temperature regime, the pivotal factor regulating emergence is temperature while in constant-temperature habitats photoperiod plays a major role (Ivković et al., 2013). Water temperature is the primary driver that determines the timing of emergence for holometabolous insects (where the pupae are submerged) while other variables (such as humidity and air temperature) are involved for hemimetabolous insects (Trottier, 1973b; Ivković et al., 2013). In recent decades the emergence of Odonata adults takes place earlier in the year due to increased temperatures. According to Hassall & Thompson (2008), British Odonata have advanced their emergence by about 1.15 days per decade and 3 days per degree between 1960 and 2004, showing a phenological response to climate change similar to those observed for terrestrial taxa (Lepidoptera, amphibians, birds and plants) (Sparks, Jeffree & Jeffree, 2000). A similar pattern was reported for Dutch Odonata (Dingemanse & Kalkman, 2008) and the German population of Gomphus vulgatissimus (Odonata) (Richter et al., 2008). Although Odonata is the best-studied group in terms of temperature-related emergence, there are similar findings for EPT and Diptera (Nebeker, 1971; Čmrlec et al., 2013; Dickson & Walker, 2015; Chacón, Segnini & Briceño, 2016; Cheney et al., 2019; Nyquist, Vondracek & Ferrington, 2020).

# (d) Voltinism

In response to different temperature conditions, aquatic macroinvertebrates can show phenotypic plasticity that can speed up or slow down the development of adaptive strategies (Pritchard et al., 1996). For example, some stoneflies (e.g. *Nemoura cinerea*) are able to shift from a univoltine to a semivoltine life cycle when the eggs are exposed to a low temperature (10 °C) (Brittain, 1974). Under increasing temperature, some stoneflies (e.g. Leuctra nigra) and mayflies (e.g. Ephemerella danica) shift from semivoltine to univoltine, showing highly plastic phenology (Elliott, 1987; Everall et al., 2015). Many species have a synchronous life cycle coordinated by water temperature (Humpesch, 1980*a*; Sweeney & Vannote, 1984). For example, Beatis alpinus (Ephemeroptera) has a trivoltine/bivoltine or univoltine life cycle depending on altitude (Humpesh, 1979; Erba, Melissano & Buffagni, 2003) although Bottová, Derka & Svitok (2013b) found asynchronous life cycles in specimens maintained at constant temperature conditions. By contrast, a recent study carried out in a karstic spring of the Western Carpathians (Beracko & Revajová, 2019) investigating more than 40 benthic species did not support the proposal that constant water temperature promotes asynchronous life cycles and reported different phenological responses. Some Plecoptera species (e.g. Protonemura auberti and Leuctra albida) had an additional winter cohort instead of entering diapause, other species from various orders [e.g. Gammarus fossarum, (Amphipodae) Rhyacophila tristis (Trichoptera) and Protonemura austriaca (Plecoptera)] showed an unchanged or even a longer nymphal development while others maintained fixed

voltinism [Ephemerella mucronate (Ephemeroptera), Isoperla sudetica (Plecoptera)]. Odonata species tend to show a clear voltinism gradient along latitude and temperature clines: voltinism decreases from Southern to Northern Europe ranging from one generation every 1–2 years in the south to one generation every 5 years in the north (Söndgerath, Rummland & Suhling, 2012), indicating that higher temperatures correlated with increasing voltinism (Braune et al., 2008). Univoltine species are likely to be negatively impacted by increases in temperature extremes whereas multivoltine species are likely to be advantaged (Rivers-Moore, Dallas & Ross-Gillespie, 2012).

# (e) Colour

McCafferty & Pereira (1984) noted that in larvae of *Hexagenia limbata* and *Stenacron interpunctatum* (Ephemeroptera) the colour of the body and wings, as well as the spotting pattern, depended on the temperature regime of the water in which larvae developed. The colour of the compound eyes and legs was independent of temperature. Abbott (2013) conducted experiments on female *Ischnura elegans* (Odonata), a threecolour polymorphic species, to investigate whether colour polymorphism was correlated with thermal performance. He found that life-history traits varied across colour morphs, suggesting that thermal performance was more associated with morphospecies rather than local thermal adaptation.

#### (3) Fitness effects

#### (a) Fecundity and hatching success

In most invertebrates, fecundity is directly proportional to female body size (Rempel & Carter, 1987). High temperatures reduce the capacity of organisms to exploit resources from the ecosystem (Marten, 1990), leading to a decrease in the energy available for egg production, and thus to lower (Sweenev & Vannote, 1978; Rempel fecundity & Carter, 1987; Rosillon, 1988; Pritchard et al., 1996; Dallas & Ross-Gillespie, 2015). Increasing temperature also leads to faster hatching and lower egg survival (Bouton et al., 2011), partly due to a greater risk of infection by fungi and bacteria (Harvell et al., 2002; Marcogliese, 2016). In response to stressful temperature conditions, aquatic insects face a trade-off between growth and reproduction. According to the TEH, fecundity varies with altitude and latitude, declining as temperatures move away from the optimum. For example, Van Doorslaer & Stoks (2005b), studying two congeneric damselflies Coenagrion hastulatum and C. puella (Odonata) widespread in northern and central Europe respectively, identified the evolution of latitudinal compensation to low temperature in line with predictions of the TEH, but only at the embryogenic stage and not at the larval stage. This observation stresses the importance of assessing thermal responses at different life-history stages. Each species has a specific thermal threshold for egg hatching and development, which will affect both population size and species distribution (Elliott, 1988; Lambret, Hilaire & Stoks, 2017). Optimal temperatures promote the largest broods and eggs, higher hatching success and greater reproductive success (Bovill, Downes & Lancaster, 2015), while higher temperatures have significantly negative effects on egg survival and overall fitness (Starr & McIntyre, 2020). Low temperatures prolong dormancy and delay hatching (Danks, 2002; Lencioni, 2004).

# (b) Larval recruitment

With increasing temperature the nymph recruitment increases while growth rates increase exponentially (Wright, Mattice & Beauchamp, 1982; Humpesch, 1980*a,b*; Strange, 1985; Marten, 1990; Corkum & Hanes, 1992; McCauley *et al.*, 2018; Chavez *et al.*, 2015; Lencioni *et al.*, 2013; Ingram, 1976; Van Doorslaer & Stoks, 2005*b*). Some studies show that survival rates differ between the sexes, suggesting an interaction between sex and temperature. Other factors may also play important roles in larval recruitment, such as the ability to reproduce parthenogenetically (Wright *et al.*, 1982).

# (4) Behavioural effects

# (a) Migration and drift

Temperature varies seasonally and within a waterbody, especially in rivers and deep lakes. As ectotherms, aquatic macroinvertebrates must maintain their metabolic and physiological processes at levels high enough to survive and reproduce (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980). Aquatic species can track suitable thermal niches by dispersal through drift or active swimming, with drift being the most common dispersal type in rivers (Waters, 1965). There are two types of drift: catastrophic (mainly due to disruptive floods or hydropeaking as well as drought, high temperature and pollution) and behavioural, occurring when macroinvertebrates voluntarily leave their substrate in response to stress conditions that include temperature, predation or resource scarcity (Muller, 1954; Waters, 1965; Wiley & Kohler, 1980). A varietv of studies have recorded distinct drift in benthic invertebrates exposed to thermal and discharge waves caused by sudden water release from hydropower plants, with catastrophic drift due to hydropeaking and behavioural drift caused by thermopeaking. Chironomidae, Simuliidae (Diptera) and Baetidae (Ephemeroptera) resulted the most abundant drifting taxa (Bruno et al., 2012; Carolli et al., 2012; Schülting, Feld & Graf, 2016). Temperature can influence drift, for example, Wojtalik & Waters (1970) observed that increased temperature resulted in nocturnal drift in Baetis vagans (Ephemeroptera) but not Gammarus pseudolimnaeus (Amphipoda), while at constant temperature conditions neither species drifted. Scherr, Wooster & Rao (2010) reported greater drift in the mayfly *E. alberta* at a high temperature (28 °C). High water temperatures can also promote emergence events as shown by Trottier (1973b) for the climbing speed of Anax junius (Odonata).

#### (b) Predation

High temperatures may disproportionately influence organisms at higher trophic levels which are more strongly affected by alterations of energy fluxes across the food web (Vasseur & McCann, 2005; Gilman et al., 2010). Thus, theoretically predators may be more vulnerable to increasing temperatures than their prey. However, McKie & Pearson (2006) showed that predation of Australian chironomids by Australopelopia prionoptera (Diptera) was not influenced by different temperatures (12, 18 and 26 °C). This suggests that in macroinvertebrates characterized by broad physiological tolerances the predator-prev relationship may be unaffected by temperature. Thermal shocks did not alter predation of Ephemeroptera (Sherberger et al., 1977), with mortality of individuals of Isonychia sp. at 33 °C for 30 min due to the presence of a predatory fish (*Cottus carolinae*) similar to that for the control group (14°C). By contrast, Smolinský & Gvoždík (2014) found that during daily temperature extremes predation rates on newt larvae diminished, despite increased predator (dragonfly larvae) movement. Predation pressure may be lower at high seasonal temperatures or where fauna have a broad thermal tolerance range (Hildrew & Giller, 1994; Reice, 1994; McKie & Pearson, 2006).

In boreal freshwater systems, predator-prey interactions are particularly sensitive to thermal changes due to the simpler trophic web and to the presence of stenothermal species (Thompson, 1978; Moore & Townsend, 1998). For example, Kishi et al. (2005), studying the trophic chain of a boreal stream composed by a predatory fish (Salvelinus malma), an herbivorous caddisfly (Glossosoma) and periphyton, observed that thermal habitat alteration can change food-web structure via combinations of direct and indirect trophic interactions. Indeed, at high temperature (21 °C) Glossosoma larvae were promoted due to both the lower salmonid predation and the greater availability of periphyton. On the other hand, high temperature can reduce the ability to build cases in Trichoptera larvae due to the high energetic cost (Mondy et al., 2011) leaving them more exposed to predators. For example, Rogowski & Stewart (2016) observed decreased retreat building and higher mortality in Leptonema sp. (Hydropsichae, Trichoptera) at 22 °C.

# (c) Feeding

A variety of studies have shown that key consumers in freshwater ecosystems change their feeding behaviour depending on temperature conditions. Metabolism is enhanced by increased temperatures, and this generates the requirement for a greater energy intake (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980). Greater feeding efficiency can be achieved either by targeting resources that are more easily assimilated or by seeking higher quality food. For example, in a geothermal stream network characterized by a large temperature range (5–23 °C), at warmer temperatures (20 °C) the snail *Radix balthica* (Gastropoda) shifts to a more specialized diet while the black fly *Simulium aureoum* (Diptera) switches from active collection of sessile diatoms to passive filter-feeding on motile diatoms. On the contrary, the chironomid *Eukiefferiella minor* (Diptera) becomes more generalist at warmer temperatures (Gordon *et al.*, 2018). Diet and temperature may interact: food quality influences both growth rates and body size in shredders, scrapers and grazers of EPT and Diptera (Fuller & Fry, 1991; Giberson & Rosenberg, 1992*a*; Rosillon, 1988; Storey, 1987; Sweeney *et al.*, 1986*a,b*). The interactions among food, temperature, developmental time and fecundity suggest that the TEH should be adapted to include both food quality (Rosillon, 1988) and availability.

#### (5) Ecological effects

Ecological responses to temperature involve the whole macroinvertebrate community and include relationships among the taxa and their trophic roles, as well as the structure of the community itself.

#### (a) Community richness, taxonomic composition, and density

Macroinvertebrate community composition varies with temperature at both micro- and macro-geographic spatial scales; temperature affects the selection and maintenance of different species in water bodies (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980). A clear trend of increasing richness occurs with increasing temperature (along both altitudinal and latitudinal gradients); Castella et al. (2001) showed this pattern for glacier-fed streams across Europe. In the Po catchment (Italy), a clear altitudinal pattern in macroinvertebrate community composition was identified. Assemblages inhabiting high-altitude sites were characterized mostly by Plecoptera, Trichoptera, Coleoptera, and Diptera, whereas macroinvertebrate communities inhabiting lowland sites included mostly non-insect orders such as Clitellata, Gastropoda and Bivalvia. At the temporal scale, annual thermal variability promotes seasonal dissimilarity in macroinvertebrate assemblages (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980; Ward & Stanford, 1982; Arai *et al.*, 2015) while inter-annual water temperature variations affect community composition. For example, Fornaroli et al. (2020) found that in Northern Italy inter-annual flow and temperature regime variations affected community richness with higher alpha diversity in warmer years but lower EPT taxa abundance. Extreme temperatures can cause decreases in both species numbers and density (Vannote & Sweeney, 1980; Voelz, Poff & Ward, 1994; Glazier, 2012; Arai et al., 2015) inducing shifts in community composition (Arim, Bozinovic & Marquet, 2007a).

Climate warming may promote eurythermal and generalist species with a consequent expansion of these less-specialized macroinvertebrate communities (Domish, Jahnig & Haase, 2011). This is likely to affect springs and small streams more than large rivers (Haidekker & Hering, 2008). Increasing temperatures led to the upstream spread of eurythermal and rheophilic species from subalpine levels, causing homogenization of macroinvertebrate communities, especially for EPT temperatures thus result

21

(Timoner *et al.*, 2020). Increasing temperatures thus result in movement of species upstream and an increase in invasive species (Jourdan *et al.*, 2018).

#### (b) Distribution

Temperature affects species distributions both positively and negatively: some can be expected to increase their distribution in response to climate warming ('winning' species as defined by Domish *et al.*, 2011) while others become more restricted ('loser' species) (Sweeney & Vannote, 1978; Arai *et al.*, 2015; Jacobsen *et al.*, 2014; Besacier *et al.*, 2019). Adaptation to a specific temperature range restricts species zonation to particular ecological niches along the temperature gradient (Sweeney & Vannote, 1978; Arai *et al.*, 2015).

In recent years, attempts have been made to predict the distribution of freshwater communities at national, continental, and global spatial scales by applying predicted air temperatures (sometimes together with precipitation predictions) to models using long-term aquatic monitoring data sets. Several indicators have been developed to assess the sensitivity and vulnerability of aquatic communities to climate change (Hering et al., 2009; Conti et al., 2014; Sandin et al., 2014; Mustonen et al., 2018). Among the environmental drivers that regulate taxa distribution, climatic drivers contribute substantially at a broad geographic scale but are insufficient to explain local community dynamics at catchment scale, where other variables such as habitat, geomorphology and land-use features play an important filtering role (Poff et al., 2010; Feld & Hering, 2007). Other factors influencing the macroinvertebrate community at the local scale include species thermal limits, adaptation capacity, drift propensity, resource use and interspecific interactions (Glazier, 2012).

#### (c) Food-chain length

The amount of energy available in an ecosystem influences its food-web structure (Odum, 1968) and sets an upper limit to the length of the food chain (Lindeman, 1942; Hutchinson & MacArthur, 1959). Two theories regarding the relationship between temperature and food-chain length have been proposed. According to the metabolic theory (Arim, Marquet & Jaksic, 2007b), body size and food-chain length are inversely correlated with environmental temperature: at high temperatures, metabolic demand increases so that lower levels of the trophic web consume more energy and energy flow to upper trophic levels is reduced. According to the thermal tolerance hypothesis (Brock, 1985), biochemical similarity among the organisms that constitute a specific ecological community will lead to similarity in their thermal tolerance. Therefore, below the upper thermal limit, the food-chain length is independent of temperature while close to the limit it is considerably reduced (Brock, 1985). Glazier (2012) showed that in springs (characterized by constant temperature and flow regimes), food-chain length decreases with increasing temperature, but the decline is not linear, broadly in support of the thermal tolerance hypothesis.

#### (d) Community structure and trophic role

Temperature changes in freshwater ecosystems potentially alter macroinvertebrate community structure, modifying trophic interactions within the aquatic food web. Taxonspecific trait information (www.freshwaterecology.info database) can be used to investigate the mechanisms through which temperature affects community structure. For example, Jourdan et al. (2018) used long-term data (10–30 years) on macroinvertebrates from several streams in the UK, Germany, Finland, and Latvia to show that the composition of functional feeding groups was strongly impacted by warming temperatures and more intense precipitation events. In particular, grazers and scrapers appeared especially vulnerable at higher temperatures, as predicted by Pyne & Poff (2017) for the macroinvertebrate communities of the western USA. Trait information related to feeding, substrate and habitat specializations proved critical to understanding the responses of macroinvertebrates to temperature changes in Sweden (Sandin et al., 2014).

# (e) Secondary production

The metabolic theory asserts that secondary production will be relatively temperature invariant, recognizing resource supply as the sole driver, and this has been validated by studies carried out in Iceland's geothermal streams (Nelson et al., 2017; Junker et al., 2020). However, basal resource dynamics depend on many variables including light, nutrient availability and temperature so apparent relationships between temperature and production can be explained by the positive effects of temperature on resource supply (Junker et al., 2020). Inland waters are heterotrophic ecosystems in which secondary production is strongly supported by allochthonous organic matter rather than by internal primary production. Climate change-related mechanisms may increase the inputs of allochthonous dissolved organic carbon (Pagano, Bida & Kenny, 2014; Porcal et al., 2009). In addition, primary production is strongly dependent on water temperature regime (Demars et al., 2011; Padfield et al., 2017) making a general trend of increased resource availability likely with global warming. However, in addition to an increased supply of both autotrophic and heterotrophic food resources at higher temperatures, decay rates of organic matter will also be accelerated, thus decreasing its availability to consumers (Rempel & Carter, 1986). In aquatic environments characterized by constant temperatures (springs), stonefly secondary production was found to be very high, possibly due to reliable resource supply due to stable temperature (Bottová et al., 2013a) and flow regimes (Zimmerman & Wissing, 1978).

#### (6) Evolutionary effects

# (a) Genetic diversity

Temperature can also have effects at an evolutionary scale, causing thermal divergence in populations of the same species, promoting genetic diversity, and leading to temporal segregation. For example, temperate and tropical populations of the chironomids Echinoclaudius martini and Australopelo*pia pronioptera* (Diptera) have diverged in developmental time; moreover, different populations of E. martini have diverged in oocyte production (greater in the temperate population) as well as body size, suggesting that temperature could facilitate population differentiation (McKie et al., 2004). Indeed, tropical species often have higher thermal limits than congeneric temperate species (Chapman, 2013). For EPT species of Ecuadorian Andean and USA Rocky Mountains, Polato et al. (2018) showed that tropical and temperate mountain stream insects have diverged in thermal tolerance and dispersal capacity due to different seasonal temperature variations. Tropical species had narrower thermal breadths, less gene flow, higher population divergence, higher cryptic diversity, and higher speciation rates, rendering them especially vulnerable to rapid changes in thermal environments. Johansson, Quintela & Laurila (2016) showed that the genetic population structure of the Icelandic freshwater gastropod Radix balthica living in contrasting geothermal habitats was influenced by both geographic distance and water temperature. Genetic variation decreased with increasing temperature, suggesting that natural selection had led to reduced genetic diversity in warm geothermal springs due to higher thermal specialization. Herzog & Hadrys (2017) used a 20-year data set on the genetic diversity of a population of Orthetrum coerulescens (Odonata) located in Crau (France) to identify a dramatic decline in genetic diversity caused by increased water temperatures mediated by the destruction of bank vegetation. At high altitudes, global warming is leading to the loss of glaciers, which promotes fragmentation, limits gene flow and leads to loss of genetic variation among populations of high-altitude freshwater invertebrates. For example, populations of Lednia tumana (Plecoptera) in the Glacier National Park (Montana, USA) showed reduced gene and nucleotide diversity and increased genetic isolation in response to glacier retreat during 1997-2010 (Jordan et al., 2016). Genetic loss has been predicted in some European meltwater species of stoneflies, caddisflies and mayflies from predictions of mitochondrial DNA variability under different climate change scenarios. Intraspecific (cryptic) genetic loss is a significant concern and should be included when estimating the effects of global warming on biodiversity loss (Bálint et al., 2011). Temperature and genetic variability may interact affecting mortality: dramatic effects of high temperature (20 °C) were observed in a population of Chironomus riparius (Diptera) with poor genetic variability (Vogt et al., 2007).

# **V. FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

As shown in Fig. 7 there has been a shift in emphasis in research on the effects of temperature on aquatic macroin-vertebrates from the 2000s, when studies at larger temporal

(decades) and spatial (ecoregions, continents and global) scales began to be published. This increase is likely due to the availability of large databases and improved analytical tools. However, most studies on macroinvertebrate communities (now often related to rising water temperatures due to global warming) do not report measured water temperature, but instead use air temperature as a proxy (Li et al., 2013; Domish et al., 2011, 2013; Jourdan et al., 2018; Besacier et al., 2019; Haase et al., 2019). This approach may be limiting because it does not account for the high thermal heterogeneity of different water bodies nor their seasonal thermal variability. It is therefore essential to implement a monitoring network for water temperature, especially where there are few or no data. In recent years, several models have been developed that can effectively predict water temperature even at a regional scale and have proved useful both to reconstruct historical series and to enable temperature forecasts (Toffolon & Piccolroaz, 2015; Beaufort et al., 2016; Jackson et al., 2020). A deeper knowledge of the temperature conditions of aquatic ecosystems will allow evaluation of the effects of temperature alterations due to anthropogenic impacts, such as hydropower plants, deforestation, and thermal effluents. Detailed investigations of the temperature regime of freshwater bodies will provide the data necessary for a deep comprehension of aquatic processes related to temperature (Ducharne, 2008; Diamond et al., 2021) and thereby the effects of temperature on macroinvertebrates mediated by changes in oxygen availability, primary production, and organic matter availability (Verberk et al., 2021).

While we found many studies analysing different kinds of responses by macroinvertebrates both in the laboratory and in the field (Fig. 5), most of the literature regarding the effects of climate warming on macroinvertebrates concerns ecological responses related to community composition and taxa distribution (Fig. 6B) (Arai et al., 2015; Besacier et al., 2019). In recent years, studies have begun to investigate the effects of temperature on food-web structure [e.g. trophic roles (Jonsson et al., 2015; Jourdan et al., 2018)] and trophic chain length (Glazier, 2012), but studies on the effects of climate warming on growth rates, phenology and fitness are relatively rare, despite a historical focus on these areas in laboratory studies (Fig. 6B). As noted by some authors (Forster et al., 2012; Tan et al., 2021; Verberk et al., 2021), warming induces earlier emergence and body size reduction in aquatic species, thus, the latitudinal temperature-size responses will influence the impacts of climate warming on primary production, community structure and food-web dynamics.

Temperature affects physiology, phenology, and fitness, but these effects have been investigated almost exclusively at the population level, on target species studied in laboratory experiments (Fig. 6A,D). It will be important for future investigations to include these responses in field studies involving macroinvertebrate communities. Studying functional traits and ecosystem attributes (Cummins, 1974) can also include responses related to fitness, voltinism, trophic role and drift propensity that normally are not accounted for in structural taxonomy indices. Indeed, functional traits have already allowed a more comprehensive understanding of the effects of temperature changes on macroinvertebrate assemblages at large spatial and temporal scales (Hering *et al.*, 2009; Poff *et al.*, 2010; Pyne & Poff, 2017; Besacier *et al.*, 2019). A trait-based approach aiming to extend our knowledge about the thermal and ecological preferences of each taxon could be a promising way to understand and predict macroinvertebrate assemblage changes both in structure and functioning.

A further point of concern is the unbalanced number of studies among different continents (Figs. 6F and 9). We currently have very little information on the effects of water temperature on freshwater macroinvertebrates of 70% of our planet, with tropical, arid, and arctic climatic regions most unrepresented (Fig. 9). The focus of research is restricted mostly to European and North American macroinvertebrate communities, often living in water bodies profoundly impacted by direct human intervention (Dodds, Perkin & Gerken, 2013), and studies investigating the ecological effects of temperature have been carried out almost exclusively in Europe (Fig. 6F). This unbalanced distribution will inevitably lead to a somewhat distorted perception of macro-ecological patterns related to temperature. Future work should target water bodies in Asia, Africa, South America, and Antarctica to allow us to obtain a more global perspective.

Genetic investigations of tropical and temperate macroinvertebrates have shown that taxon thermal preference varies across latitudes due to evolved thermal adaptations. Comparative studies demonstrated that tropical species generally have a narrower thermal range compared to temperate ones, occupy narrower ecological niches, are more specialized and therefore more vulnerable (Shah et al., 2017; Polato et al., 2018). However, information on the temperature ranges of tropical macroinvertebrate species is currently available only for about 60 species. According to Van Vliet et al. (2013) and Wanders et al. (2019), the water bodies most vulnerable to global warming are likely to be small, especially in temperate and arctic regions. It is, therefore, crucial to include more lentic ecosystems in thermal research given that lakes and ponds have been poorly investigated (Fig. 6A). They may be among the most vulnerable ecosystems to climate change because they are mainly in the boreal belt (Messager et al., 2016). Additionally, as reported by many authors (Bálint et al., 2011; Jordan et al., 2016; Shah et al., 2017; Polato et al., 2018; Birrell et al., 2020; Brighenti et al., 2021), mountain aquatic macroinvertebrates are likely to be the most threatened freshwater species due to their endemicity.

# VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Our review reveals that the effects of water temperature on macroinvertebrates are manifold with implications at different levels, from genes to communities, and involve multiple responses related to physiology, phenology, fitness, behaviour, community ecology and evolution. Despite substantial advances in thermal research in recent years, understanding how macroinvertebrate taxa and communities respond to different temperature conditions is far from complete.

(2) Temperature responses historically tested in laboratory studies, such as effects on body size, have not been assessed more widely at the community level. This will be necessary given their important macroecological implications.

(3) Studies involving gene expression have begun relatively recently. This promising avenue will provide an understanding of the physiological mechanisms underlying responses to temperature, and allow us to disentangle behavioural and evolutionary adaptation.

(4) Increasing temperatures driven by climate change strongly threaten stenothermal macroinvertebrates, especially in mountain waterbodies, but these are poorly investigated. When estimating biodiversity loss driven by warmer temperatures, both genetic and species loss should be considered.

(5) Tropical macroinvertebrates generally have a narrower thermal range and are more vulnerable to temperature changes; how they respond to changes in temperature should be examined in more detail.

(6) Our knowledge of macroinvertebrate-temperature relationships is based almost exclusively on studies carried out in the West, and in waterbodies greatly impacted by human activity; widening our perspective to include other regions will be important to enable a deeper understanding of the effects of climate change.

(7) Lakes and ponds are underrepresented in the published work and should be a focus of future studies because many are in the boreal belt that is warming faster that the global average.

(8) Extended spatiotemporal data sets often use air temperature as a proxy for water temperature and are derived almost exclusively for European rivers. Measuring water temperature data accurately will greatly improve our understanding of the effects of thermal heterogeneity on macroinvertebrate assemblage structure and the effects of temperature changes on aquatic ecosystem structure and functioning.

# VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We sincerely thank Romain Sarremejane, Marco Ferraguti, Diego Fontaneto and two anonymous reviewers for constructive criticism of this review, Francesco Bonacina for the elaboration of pie-donuts charts and Alison Cooper for the detailed proofreading. Open Access Funding provided by Universita degli Studi di Milano-Bicocca within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

#### VIII. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data are available at: https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare. 20584311.v1.

# IX. REFERENCES

- ABBOTT, J. K. (2013). Morph-specific and sex-specific temperature effects on morphology in the colour polymorphic damselfly *Ischnura elegans*. Animal Biology 63, 149–167.
- ABDULLAHI, B. A. & LAYBOURN-PARRY, J. (1985). The effect of temperature on size and development in three species of benthic copepod. *Oecologia* 67, 295–297.
- ALLAN, J. & CASTILLO, M. (2007). Stream Ecology: Structure and Function of Running Waters. Springer, Dordrecht.
- ANDERSON, T. R., HESSEN, D. O., BOERSMA, M., URABE, J. & MAYOR, D. J. (2017). Will invertebrates require increasingly carbon-rich food in a warming world? *American Naturalist* 190, 725–742.
- ANGILLETTA, J. M. J. (2009a). Evolutionary thermal biology. In Thermal Adaptation: A Theoretical and Empirical Synthesis, pp. 1–42. Oxford Scholarship Online, Oxford.
- ANGILLETTA, J. M. J. (2009b). Thermal heterogeneity. In *Thermal Adaptation: A Theoretical and Empirical Synthesis*, pp. 1–33. Oxford Scholarship Online, Oxford.
- ANGILLETTA, M. J., COOPER, B. S., SCHULER, M. S. & BOYLES, J. G. (2002). The evolution of thermal physiology in ectotherms. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 27, 249–268.
- ARAI, R., NUKAZAWA, K., KAZAMA, S. & TAKEMON, Y. (2015). Variation in benthic invertebrate abundance along thermal gradients within headwater streams of a temperate basin in Japan. *Hydrobiologia* 762, 55–63.
- ARIM, M., BOZINOVIC, F. & MARQUET, P. A. (2007*a*). On the relationship between trophic position, body mass and temperature: reformulating the energy limitation hypothesis. *Oikas* 116, 1524–1530.
- ARIM, M., MARQUET, P. A. & JAKSIC, F. M. (2007b). On the relationship between productivity and food chain length at different ecological levels. *The American Naturalist* 169, 62–72.
- ARTHUR, J. W., ZISCHKE, J. A. & ERICKSEN, G. L. (1982). Effect of elevated water temperature on macroinvertebrate communities in outdoor experimental channels. *Water Research* 16, 1465–1477.
- ASTORGA, A., HEINO, J., LUOTO, M. & MUOTKA, T. (2011). Freshwater biodiversity at regional extent: determinants of macroinvertebrate taxonomic richness in headwater streams. *Ecography* 34, 705–713.
- ATKINSON, D. (1994). Temperature and organism size-a biological law for ectotherms? Advances in Ecological Research 25, 1–58.
- ATKINSON, D. (1995). Effects of temperature on the size of aquatic ectotherms: exceptions to the general rule. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **20**, 61–74.
- BAKER, R. L. & FELTMATE, B. W. (1989). Depth selection by larval *Ischnura verticalis* (Odonata: Coenagrionidae): effects of temperature and food. *Freshwater Biology* 22, 169–175.
- BÁLINT, M., DOMISCH, S., ENGELHARDT, C. H. M., HAASE, P., LEHRIAN, S., SAUER, J., THEISSINGER, K., PAULS, S. U. & NOWAK, C. (2011). Cryptic biodiversity loss linked to global climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 1, 313–318.
- BARQUÍN, J. & DEATH, R. G. (2011). Downstream changes in spring-fed stream invertebrate communities: the effect of increased temperature range? *Journal of Limnology* 70, 134–146.
- BAYOH, M. N. & LINDSAY, S. W. (2003). Effect of temperature on the development of the aquatic stages of Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto (Diptera: Culicidae). Bullettin of Entomological Research 93, 375–381.
- BEAUFORT, A., CURIE, F., MOATAR, F., DUCHARNE, A., MELIN, E. & THIERY, D. (2016). T-NET, a dynamic model for simulating daily stream temperature at the regional scale based on a network topology. *Hydrological Processes* 30, 2196–2210.
- BECK, W. M. (1955). Suggested method for reporting biotic data. Sewage and Industrial Wastes 10, 1193–1197.
- BERACKO, P. & REVAJOVÁ, A. (2019). Benthic life in karst spring—the life cycle and secondary production of benthic macroinvertebrates under the effects of constant water temperature. *Limnologica* **74**, 51–60.
- BERGMANN, C. (1847). Ueber die verhältnisse der wärmeökonomie der thiere zu ihrer grösse. *Gottinger studien* **3**, 595–708.
- BERGSTRÖM, I., KORTELAINEN, P., SARVALA, J. & SALONEN, K. (2010). Effects of temperature and sediment properties on benthic CO<sub>2</sub> production in an oligotrophic boreal lake. *Freshwater Biology* 55, 1747–1757.
- BESACIER, M. A. L., TIMONER, P., RAHMAN, K., BURLANDO, P., FATICHI, S., GONSETH, Y., MOSER, F., CASTELLA, E. & LEHMANN, A. (2019). Assessing the vulnerability of aquatic macroinvertebrates to climate warming in a mountainous watershed: supplementing presence-only data with species traits. *Water* 11, 1–29.
- BIRRELL, J. H., SHAH, A. A., HOTALING, S., GIERSCH, J. J., WILLIAMSON, C. E., JACOBSEN, D. & WOODS, H. A. (2020). Insects in high-elevation streams: life in extreme environments imperiled by climate change. *Global Change Biology* 26, 6667– 6684.
- BOHLE, H. W. (1972). The effect of temperature on embryogenesis and diapause of *Ephemerella ignita* (Poda) (Insecta, Ephemeroptera). *Oecologia* **10**, 253–268.
- BOTTOVÁ, K., DERKA, T., BERACKO, P. & DE FIGUEROA, J. M. T. (2013*a*). Life cycle, feeding and secondary production of Plecoptera community in a constant temperature stream in Central Europe. *Limnologica* **43**, 27–33.

- BOTTOVÁ, K., DERKA, T. & SVITOK, M. (2013b). Population dynamics of mayflies in a constant temperature spring stream in West Carpathians. *Limnologica* **43**, 469–474.
- BOUTON, N., ISERBYT, A. & VAN GOSSUM, H. (2011). Thermal plasticity in lifehistory traits in the polymorphic blue-tailed damselfly, *Ischnura elegans*: no differences between female morphs. *Journal of Insect Science* 11, 1–11.
- BOVILL, W. D., DOWNES, B. J. & LANCASTER, J. (2015). Caddisfly egg mass morphology mediates egg predation: potential costs to individuals and populations. *Freshwater Biology* **60**, 360–372.
- BOVILL, W. D., DOWNES, B. J. & LANCASTER, J. (2019). Variations in fecundity over catchment scales: implications for caddisfly populations spanning a thermal gradient. *Freshwater Biology* **64**, 723–734.
- BRAUNE, E., RICHTER, O., SÖNDGERATH, D. & SUHLING, F. (2008). Voltinism flexibility of a riverine dragonfly along thermal gradients. *Global Change Biology* 14, 470–482.
- BRETT, J. R. (1952). Temperature tolerance in young Pacific salmon, genus Oncorhynchus. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 9, 265–323.
- BRIGHENTI, S., HOTALING, S., FINN, D. S., FOUNTAIN, A. G., HAYASHI, M., HERBST, D., SAROS, J. E., TRONSTAD, L. M. & MILLAR, C. I. (2021). Rock glaciers and related cold rocky landforms: overlooked climate refugia for mountain biodiversity. *Global Change Biology* 27, 1504–1517.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. (1974). Studies on the lentic Ephemeroptera and Plecoptera of southern Norway. Norsk Entomologisk Tidsskr 21, 135–154.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. (1977). The effect of temperature on the egg incubation period of Taeniopteryx nebulosa (Plecoptera). Oikos 29, 302–305.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. (1982). Biology of mayflies. Annual Review of Entomology 27, 119-147.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. (1983). The influence of temperature on nymphal growth rates in mountain stoneflies (Plecoptera). *Ecology* 64, 440–446.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. (1991). Effect of temperature on egg development in the Australian stonefly genus, Austrocercella lilies (Plecoptera: Notonemouridae). Marine and Freshwater Research 42, 107–114.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. & CAMPBELL, I. C. (1991). The effect of temperature on egg development in the australian mayfly genus *Coloburiscoides* (Ephemeroptera: Coloburiscidae) and its relationship to distribution and life history. *Journal of Biogeography* 18, 231.
- BRITTAIN, J. E., LILLEHAMMER, A. & SALTVEIT, S. J. (1984). The effect of temperature on intraspecific variation in egg biology and nymphal size in the stonefly, *Capnia atra* (Plecoptera). *The Journal of Animal Ecology* 53, 161–169.
- BRITTAIN, J. E. & MUTCH, R. A. (1984). The effect of water temperature on the egg incubation period of *Mesocapnia oenone* (Plecoptera) from the Canadian Rocky Mountains. *The Canadian Entomologist* 116, 549–554.

BROCK, T. D. (1985). Life at high temperatures. Science 230, 132-138.

- BRUNO, M. C., SIVIGLIA, A., CAROLLI, M. & MAIOLINI, B. (2012). Multiple drift responses of benthic invertebrates to interacting hydropeaking and thermopeaking waves. *Ecohydrology* 6, 511–522.
- BURGMER, T., HILLEBRAND, H. & PFENNINGER, M. (2007). Effects of climate-driven temperature changes on the diversity of freshwater macroinvertebrates. *Oecologia* 151, 93–103.
- BURTON, D. T., RICHARDSON, L. B. & MARGREY, S. L. P. R. (1976). Effects of low ΔT powerplant temperatures on estuarine invertebrates. *Journal of the Water Pollution* Control Federation 48, 2259–2272.
- CAÑEDO-ARGÜELLES, M., GUTIÉRREZ-CÁNOVAS, C., ACOSTA, R., CASTRO-LÓPEZ, D., CID, N., FORTUÑO, P., MUNNÉ, A., MÚRRIA, C., PIMENTAO, A. R., SARREMEJANE, R., SORIA, M., TARRATS, P., VERKAIK, I., PRAT, N. & BONADA, N. (2020). As time goes by: 20 years of changes in the aquatic macroinvertebrate metacommunity of Mediterranean river networks. *Journal of Biogeography* 47, 1861–1874.
- CAROLLI, M., BRUNO, M. C., SIVIGLIA, A. & MAIOLINI, B. (2012). Responses of benthic invertebrates to abrupt changes of temperature in flume simulations. *River Research and Applications* 28, 678–691.
- CASTELLA, E., ADALSTEINSSON, H., BRITTAIN, J. E., GISLASON, G. M., LEHMANN, A., LENCIONI, V., LODS-CROZET, B., MAIOLINI, B., MILNER, A. M., OLAFSSON, J. S., SALTVEIT, S. J. & SNOOK, D. L. (2001). Macrobenthic invertebrate richness and composition along a latitudinal gradient of European glacier-fed streams. *Freshvater Biology* 46, 1811–1831.
- CERINI, F., STELLATI, L., LUISELLI, L. & VIGNOLI, L. (2020). Long-term shifts in the communities of Odonata: effect of chance or climate change? North-Western Journal of Zoology 16, 1–6.
- CHACÓN, M. M., SEGNINI, S. & BRICEÑO, D. (2016). Temperatura y emergencia diaria de siete géneros de Ephemeroptera (Insecta) en un río de la Selva Nublada de los Andes Tropicales. *Revista de Biologia Tropical* 64, 117–130.
- CHADWICK, M. A. & FEMINELLA, J. W. (2001). Influence of salinity and temperature on the growth and production of a freshwater mayfly in the lower Mobile River, Alabama. *Limnology and Oceanography* **46**, 532–542.
- CHAPMAN, R. F. (2013). The Insects Structure and Function, Fifth Edition (). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- CHAVEZ, M. Y., MABRY, K. E., MCCAULEY, S. J. & HAMMOND, J. I. (2015). Differential larval responses of two ecologically similar insects (Odonata) to temperature and resource variation. *International Journal of Odonatology* 18, 297–304.
- CHENEY, K. N., ROY, A. H., SMITH, R. F., DEWALT, R. E. & MURPHY, S. (2019). Effects of stream temperature and substrate type on emergence patterns of Plecoptera and Trichoptera from northeastern United States headwater streams. *Environmental Entomology* 48, 1349–1359.
- CHESSMAN, B. C. (2012). Biological traits predict shifts in geographical ranges of freshwater invertebrates during climatic warming and drying. *Journal of Biogeography* 39, 957–969.
- CHINNAYAKANAHALLI, K. J., HAWKINS, C. P., TARBOTON, D. G. & HILL, R. A. (2011). Natural flow regime, temperature and the composition and richness of invertebrate assemblages in streams of the western United States. *Freshwater Biology* 56, 1248–1265.
- CHOU, H., PATHMASIRI, W., DEESE-SPRUILL, J., SUMNER, S. J., JIMA, D. D., FUNK, D. H., JACKSON, J. K., SWEENEY, B. W. & BUCHWALTER, D. B. (2018). The good, the bad, and the lethal: gene expression and metabolomics reveal physiological mechanisms underlying chronic thermal effects in mayfly larvae (*Neocloeon triangulifer*). Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution **6**, 1–11.
- CLARKE, A. (2003). Costs and consequences of evolutionary temperature adaptation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18, 573–581.
- CMRLEC, K., IVKOVIĆ, M., SEMNICKI, P. & MIHALJEVIĆ, Z. (2013). Emergence phenology and microhabitat distribution of aquatic diptera community at the outlets of barrage lakes: effect of temperature, substrate and current velocity. *Polish Journal of Ecology* 61, 135–144.
- COGO, G. B., MARTÍNEZ, J., SANTOS, S. & GRAÇA, M. A. S. (2020). Caddisflies growth and size along an elevation/temperature gradient. *Hydrobiologia* 847, 207–216.
- COLBURN, E. A. (1983). Effect of elevated temperature on osmotic and ionic regulation in a salt-tolerant caddisfly from Death Valley, California. *Journal of Inset Physiology* 29, 363–369.
- COLER, B. G. & KONDRATIEFF, B. C. (1989). Emergence of Chironomidae (Diptera) from a delta-swamp receiving thermal effluent. *Hydrobiologia* **174**, 67–77.
- COLLIER, K. J. & SMITH, B. J. (2000). Interactions of adult stoneflies (Plecoptera) with riparian zones I. Effects of air temperature and humidity on longevity. *Aquatic Insects* 22, 275–284.
- CONTADOR, T., KENNEDY, J., OJEDA, J., FEINSINGER, P. & ROZZI, R. (2014). Life cycles of freshwater invertebrates and global climate change in the sub-Antarctic Magellanic ecoregion: long-term ecological research at the Omora Ethonobotanical Park, Biosphere Reserve Cape Horn (55° S). Bosque (Valdivia) 35, 429–437.
- CONTI, L., SCHMIDT-KLOIBER, A., GRENOUILLET, G. & GRAF, W. (2014). A traitbased approach to assess the vulnerability of European aquatic insects to climate change. *Hydrobiologia* 721, 297–315.
- COOPER, C. M. (1980). Effects of abnormal thermal stratification on a reservoir benthic macroinvertebrate community. *The American Midland Naturalist* **103**, 149–154.
- CORKUM, L. D. & HANES, E. C. (1992). Effects of temperature and photoperiod on larval size and survivorship of a burrowing mayfly (Ephemeroptera, Ephemeridae). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **70**, 256–263.
- COX, T. J. & RUTHERFORD, J. C. (2000). Predicting the effects of time-varying temperatures on stream invertebrate mortality. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 34, 209–215.
- CULLER, L. E., MCPEEK, M. A. & AYRES, M. P. (2014). Predation risk shapes thermal physiology of a predaceous damselfly. *Oecologia* 176, 653–660.
- CUMMINS, K. W. (1974). Structure and function of stream ecosystems. *Ecosystems* 24, 631–641.
- DALLAS, H. F. & KETLEY, Z. A. (2011). Upper thermal limits of aquatic macroinvertebrates: comparing critical thermal maxima with 96-LT50 values. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 36, 322–327.
- DALLAS, H. F. & RIVERS-MOORE, N. (2014). Ecological consequences of global climate change for freshwater ecosystems in South Africa. South African Journal of Science 110, 1–11.
- DALLAS, H. F. & RIVERS-MOORE, N. A. (2012). Critical thermal maxima of aquatic macroinvertebrates: towards identifying bioindicators of thermal alteration. *Hydrobiologia* 679, 61–76.
- DALLAS, H. F. & ROSS-GILLESPIE, V. (2015). Sublethal effects of temperature on freshwater organisms, with special reference to aquatic insects. *Water SA* 41, 712–726.
- DANKS, H. (1987). Insect Dormancy: An Ecological Perspective. Biological Survey of Canada (Terrestrial Artropods), Ottawa.
- DANKS, H. V. (1978). Some effects of photoperiod, temperature, and food on emergence in three species of Chironomidae (Diptera). *The Canadian Entomologist* 110, 289–300.
- DANKS, H. V. (2002). The range of insect dormancy responses. European Journal of Entomology 99, 127–142.
- DEMARS, B. O. L., KEMP, J. L., FRIBERG, N., USSEGLIO-POLATERA, P. & HARPER, D. M. (2012). Linking biotopes to invertebrates in rivers: biological traits, taxonomic composition and diversity. *Ecological Indicators* 23, 301–311.

- DEMARS, B. O. L., RUSSELL MANSON, J., ÓLAFSSON, J. S., GÍSLASON, G. M., GUDMUNDSDÓTTIR, R., WOODWARD, G., REISS, J., PICHLER, D. E., RASMUSSEN, J. J. & FRIBERG, N. (2011). Temperature and the metabolic balance of streams. *Freshwater Biology* 56, 1106–1121.
- DIAMOND, J. S., BERNAL, S., BOUKRA, A., COHEN, M. J., LEWIS, D., MASSON, M., MOATAR, F. & PINAY, G. (2021). Stream network variation in dissolved oxygen: metabolism proxies and biogeochemical controls. *Ecological Indicators* 131, 108233.
- DICKSON, T. R. & WALKER, I. R. (2015). Midge (Diptera: Chironomidae and Ceratopogonidae) emergence responses to temperature: experiments to assess midges' capacity as paleotemperature indicators. *Journal of Paleolimnology* 53, 165–176.
- DINGEMANSE, N. J. & KALKMAN, V. J. (2008). Changing temperature regimes have advanced the phenology of Odonata in The Netherlands. *Ecological Entomology* 33, 394–402.
- DODDS, W. K., PERKIN, J. S. & GERKEN, J. E. (2013). Human impact on freshwater ecosystem services: a global perspective. *Environmental Science and Technology* 47, 9061–9068.
- DOMISCH, S., ARAÚJO, M. B., BONADA, N., PAULS, S. U., JÄHNIG, S. C. & HAASE, P. (2013). Modelling distribution in European stream macroinvertebrates under future climates. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 752–762.
- DOMISH, S., JAHNIG, S. C. & HAASE, P. (2011). Climate-change winners and losers: stream macroinvertebrates of a submontane region in Central Europe. *Freshwater Biology* 56, 2009–2020.
- DUCHARNE, A. (2008). Importance of stream temperature to climate change impact on water quality. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 12, 797–810.
- DUDGEON, D., NG, L. C. Y. & TSANG, T. P. N. (2020). Shifts in aquatic insect composition in a tropical forest stream after three decades of climatic warming. *Global Change Biology* 26, 6399–6412.
- DURANCE, I. & ORMEROD, S. J. (2007). Climate change effects on upland stream macroinvertebrates over a 25-year period. *Global Change Biology* 13, 942–957.
- DURANCE, I. & ORMEROD, S. J. (2009). Trends in water quality and discharge confound long-term warming effects on river macroinvertebrates. *Freshwater Biology* 54, 388–405.
- DURRETT, C. W. & PEARSON, W. D. (1975). Drift of macroinvertebrates in a channel carrying heated water from a power plant. *Hydrobiologia* 46, 33–43.
- EBNER, J. N., RITZ, D. & VON FUMETTI, S. (2019). Comparative proteomics of stenotopic caddisfly *Crunoecia irrorata* identifies acclimation strategies to warming. *Molecular Ecology* 28, 4453–4469.
- ELLIOTT, J. M. (1972). Effect of temperature on the time of hatching in *Baetis rhodani* (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae). *Oecologia* 9, 47–51.
- ELLIOTT, J. M. (1978). Effect of temperature on the hatching time of eggs of *Ephemerella* ignita (Poda) (Ephemeroptera:Ephemerellidae). *Freshwater Biology* 8, 51–58.
- ELLIOTT, J. M. (1986). The effect of temperature on the egg incubation period of Capnia bifrons (Plecoptera: Capniidae) from Windermere (English Lake District). Holarctic Ecology 9, 113–116.
- ELLIOTT, J. M. (1987). Temperature-induced changes in the life cycle of *Leuctra nigra* (Plecoptera: Leuctridae) from a Lake District stream. *Freshwater Biology* 18, 177–184.
- ELLIOTT, J. M. (1988). Egg hatching and resource partitioning in stoneflies (Plecoptera): ten British species in the family Nemouridae. *The Journal of Animal Ecology* 57, 201–215.
- ENCALADA, A. C., FLECKER, A. S., POFF, N. L. R., SUÁREZ, E., HERRERA, G. A., RÍOS-TOUMA, B., JUMANI, S., LARSON, E. I. & ANDERSON, E. P. (2019). A global perspective on tropical montane rivers. *Science* 365, 1124–1129.
- ERBA, S., MELISSANO, L. & BUFFAGNI, A. (2003). Life cycle of Baetidae (Ephemeroptera) in a North Italian prealpine stream. *Research Update on Ephemeroptera and Plecoptera*, 177–186.
- EVERALL, N. C., JOHNSON, M. F., WILBY, R. L. & BENNETT, C. J. (2015). Detecting phenology change in the mayfly *Ephemera danica*: responses to spatial and temporal water temperature variations. *Ecological Entomology* **40**, 95–105.
- EVERSHAM, B. C. & COOPER, J. M. (1998). Dragonfly species-richness and temperature: national patterns and latitude trends in Britain. *Odonatologica* 27, 307–316.
- FAHY, E. (1973). Observations on the growth of Ephemeroptera in fluctuating and constant temperature conditions. Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section B: Biological, Geological, and Chemical Science 73, 133–149.
- FARKAS, A., JAKAB, T., MÜLLER, O., MÓRA, A., LAJTER, I. & DÉVAI, G. (2013). Sex ratio in Gomphidae (Odonata) at emergence: is there a relationship with water temperature? *International Journal of Odonatology* 16, 279–287.
- FELD, C. K. & HERING, D. (2007). Community structure or function: effects of environmental stress on benthic macroinvertebrates at different spatial scales. *Freshwater Biology* 52, 1380–1399.
- FENOGLIO, S., BO, T., BATTEGAZZORE, M. & MORISI, A. (2005). Growth of Oligoneuriella rhenana (Imhoff, 1852) (Ephemeroptera: Oligoneuriidae) in two rivers with contrasting temperatures in NW Italy. Zoological Studies 44, 271–274.
- FENOGLIO, S., BO, T., CUCCO, M., MERCALLI, L. & MALACARNE, G. (2010). Effects of global climate change on freshwater biota: a review with special emphasis on the Italian situation. *Italian Journal of Zoology* 77, 374–383.

- FERREIRA, V., CHAUVET, E. & CANHOTO, C. (2015). Effects of experimental warming, litter species, and presence of macroinvertebrates on litter decomposition and associated decomposers in a temperate mountain stream. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 72, 206–216.
- FEUCHTMAYR, H., MCKEE, D., HARVEY, I. F., ATKINSON, D. & MOSS, B. (2007). Response of macroinvertebrates to warming, nutrient addition and predation in large-scale mesocosm tanks. *Hydrobiologia* 584, 425–432.
- FLOURY, M., USSEGLIO-POLATERA, P., FERREOL, M., DELATTRE, C. & SOUCHON, Y. (2013). Global climate change in large European rivers: long-term effects on macroinvertebrate communities and potential local confounding factors. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 1085–1099.
- FORNAROLI, R., WHITE, J. C., BOGGERO, A. & LAINI, A. (2020). Spatial and temporal patterns of macroinvertebrate assemblages in the River Po Catchment (Northern Italy). *Water* 12, 1–17.
- FORSTER, J., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2012). Warming-induced reductions in body size are greater in aquatic than terrestrial species. *PNAS* **109**, 19310–19314.
- FRIESEN, M. K., FLANNAGAN, J. F. & LAWRENCE, S. G. (1979). Effects of temperature and cold-storage on development time and viability of eggs of the burrowing mayfly *Hexagenia-rigida* (Ephemeroptera: Ephemeridae). *Canadian Entomologist* 111, 665–673.
- FROUZ, J., ALI, A. & LOBINSKE, R. J. (2002). Influence of temperature on developmental rate, wing length, and larval head capsule size of pestiferous midge *Chironomus crassicaudatus* (Diptera: Chironomidae). *Journal of Economic Entomology* 95, 699–705.
- FULLER, R. L. & FRY, T. J. (1991). The influence of temperature and food quality on the growth of *Hydropsyche betteni* (Trichoptera) and *Simulium vittatum* (Diptera). *Journal of Freshwater Ecology* 6, 75–86.
- GIBERSON, D. J. & ROSENBERG, D. M. (1992a). Effects of temperature, food quantity, and nymphal rearing density on life-history traits of a northern population of *Hexagenia* (Ephemeroptera: Ephemeridae). *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 11, 181–193.
- GIBERSON, D. J. & ROSENBERG, D. M. (1992b). Egg development in Hexagenia limbata (Ephemeroptera: Ephemeridae) from southern Indian Lake, Manitoba: temperature effects and diapause. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 11, 194–203.
- GIERSCH, J. J., JORDAN, S., LUIKART, G., JONES, L. A., HAUER, F. R. & MUHLFELD, C. C. (2015). Climate-induced range contraction of a rare alpine aquatic invertebrate. *Freshwater Science* 34, 53–65.
- GILLOOLY, J. F. & DODSON, S. I. (2000a). The relationship of egg size and incubation temperature to embryonic development time in univoltine and multivoltine aquatic insects. *Freshwater Biology* 444, 595–604.
- GILLOOLY, J. F. & DODSON, S. I. (2000b). The relationship of neonate mass and incubation temperature to embryonic development time in a range of animal taxa. *Journal of Zoology* 251, 369–375.
- GILMAN, S. E., URBAN, M. C., TEWKSBURY, J., GILCHRIST, G. W. & HOLT, R. D. (2010). A framework for community interactions under climate change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25, 325–331.
- GLAZIER, D. S. (2012). Temperature affects food-chain length and macroinvertebrate species richness in spring ecosystems. *Freshwater Science* **31**, 575–585.
- GONG, Z., XIE, P. & LI, Y. (2002). Effect of temperature and photoperiod on hatching of eggs of *Tokunagayusurika akamusi* (Tokunaga) (Diptera: Chironomidae). *Journal of Freshwater Ecology* 17, 169–170.
- GORDON, T. A. C., NETO-CEREJEIRA, J., FUREY, P. C. & O'GORMAN, E. J. (2018). Changes in feeding selectivity of freshwater invertebrates across a natural thermal gradient. *Current Zoology* 64, 231–242.
- GRESENS, S. E. (1997). Interactive effects of diet and thermal regime on growth of the midge *Pseudochironomus richardsoni* Malloch. *Freshwater Biology* 38, 365–373.
- GUSTAFSON, M. P. (2008). Effects of thermal regime on mayfly assemblages in mountain streams. *Hydrobiologia* 605, 235–246.
- HAASE, P., PILOTTO, F., LI, F., SUNDERMANN, A., LORENZ, A. W., TONKIN, J. D. & STOLL, S. (2019). Moderate warming over the past 25 years has already reorganized stream invertebrate communities. *Science of the Total Environment* 658, 1531–1538.
- HAIDEKKER, A. & HERING, D. (2008). Relationship between benthic insects (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Coleoptera, Trichoptera) and temperature in small and medium-sized streams in Germany: a multivariate study. *Aquatic Ecology* **42**, 463–481.
- HAMBURGER, K., DALL, P. C. & LINDEGAARD, C. (1994). Energy metabolism of *Chironomus anthracinus* (Diptera: Chironomidae) from the profundal zone of Lake Esrom, Denmark, as a function of body size, temperature and oxygen concentration. *Hydrobiologia* 294, 43–50.
- HARVELL, C. D., MITCHELL, C. E., WARD, J. R., ALTIZER, S., DOBSON, A. P., OSTFELD, R. S. & SAMUEL, M. D. (2002). Climate warming and disease risks for terrestrial and marine biota. *Science* 296, 2158–2162.
- HASSALL, C. (2013). Time stress and temperature explain continental variation in damselfly body size. *Ecography* 36, 894–903.
- HASSALL, C. & THOMPSON, D. J. (2008). The effects of environmental warming on odonata: a review. *International Journal of Odonatology* 11, 131–153.

- HASSALL, C., THOMPSON, D. J., FRENCH, G. C. & HARVEY, I. F. (2007). Historical changes in the phenology of British Odonata are related to climate. *Global Change Biology* 13, 933–941.
- HAUER, F. R. & BENKE, A. C. (1991). Rapid growth of snag-dwelling chironomids in a blackwater river: the influence of temperature and discharge. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 10, 154–164.
- HAUER, F. R. & RESH, V. H. (2017). Macroinvertebrates (Methods in stream ecology). In *Methods in Stream Ecology*, Third Edition (). Elsevier Inc, London.
- HAYASHI, F. (1988). Life history variation in a dobsonfly, *Protohermes grandis* (Megaloptera: Corydalidae): effects of prey availability and temperature. *Freshwater Biology* **19**, 205–216.
- HAYASHI, F. (1996). Life cycle of Protohermes immaculatus (Megaloptera: Corydalidae) accelerated by warm water overflowing a dam. Aquatic Insects 18, 101–110.
- HERING, D., SCHMIDT-KLOIBER, A., MURPHY, J., LÜCKE, S., ZAMORA-MUÑOZ, C., LÓPEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M. J., HUBER, T. & GRAF, W. (2009). Potential impact of climate change on aquatic insects: a sensitivity analysis for European caddisflies (Trichoptera) based on distribution patterns and ecological preferences. Aquatic Sciences 71, 3–14.
- HERZOG, R. & HADRYS, H. (2017). Long-term genetic monitoring of a riverine dragonfly, Orthetrum coerulescens (Odonata: Libellulidae): direct anthropogenic impact versus climate change effects. PLoS One 12, 1–14.
- HILDREW, A. G. & GILLER, P. S. (1994). Patchiness, species interactions and disturbance in the stream benthos. In *Aquatic Ecology: Scale, Pattern and Process* (eds P. S. GILLER, A. G. HILDREW and D. G. RAFFAELLI), pp. 21–62. Blackwell Science, Oxford.
- HINES, J., REYES, M. & GESSNER, M. O. (2016). Density constrains cascading consequences of warming and nitrogen from invertebrate growth to litter decomposition. *Ecology* 97, 1635–1642.
- HOLT, E. A. & MILLER, S. W. (2011). Bioindicators: using organisms to measure environmental impacts. *Nature Education Knowledge* 3, 8.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2015). Temperature-size responses match latitudinal-size clines in arthropods, revealing critical differences between aquatic and terrestrial species. *Ecology Letters* 18, 327–335.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2018). Insect temperature–body size trends common to laboratory, latitudinal and seasonal gradients are not found across altitudes. *Functional Ecology* 32, 948–957.
- HOTALING, S., SHAH, A. A., MCGOWAN, K. L., TRONSTAD, L. M., GIERSCH, J. J., FINN, D. S., WOODS, H. A., DILLON, M. E. & KELLEY, J. L. (2020). Mountain stoneflies may tolerate warming streams: evidence from organismal physiology and gene expression. *Global Change Biology* 26, 5524–5538.
- HOWELL, D. A. & VOSHELL, J. J. R. (1982). The effects of body weight and temperature on the metabolic-rate of *Hydropsyche venularis* Nanks (Trichoptera, Hydropsichidae). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* **71**, 401–405.
- HUEY, R. B. & STEVENSON, R. D. (1979). Integrating thermal physiology and ecology of ectotherms: a discussion of approaches. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 19, 357–366.
- HUMPESCH, U. H. (1980a). Effect of temperature on the hatching time of eggs of five *Ecdyonurus* spp. (Ephemeroptera) from Austrian streams and English streams, rivers and lakes. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 49, 317–333.
- HUMPESCH, U. H. (1980b). Effect of temperature on the hatching time of parthenogenetic eggs of five *Ecdyonurus* spp. and two *Rhithrogena* spp. (Ephemeroptera) from Austrian streams and English rivers and lakes. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 49, 927–939 British Ecological Society.
- HUMPESCH, U. H. (1981). Effect of temperature on larval growth of *Ecdyonurus dispar* (Ephemeroptera: Heptageniidae) from two English lakes. *Freshwater Biology* 11, 441–457.
- HUMPESCH, U. H. (1982). Effect of fluctuating temperature on the duration of embryonic development in two *Ecdyonurus* spp. and *Rhithrogena cf. hybrida* (Ephemeroptera) from Austrian streams. *Oecologia* 55, 285–288.
- HUMPESCH, U. H. & ELLIOTT, J. M. (1980). Effect of temperature on the hatching time of eggs of three *Rhithrogena* spp. (Ephemeroptera) from Austrian streams and an English stream and river. *The Journal of Animal Ecology* **49**, 643–661.
- HUMPESH, U. H. (1979). Life cycles and growth rates of *Baetis* spp. (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) in the laboratory and in two stony streams in Austria. *Freshwater Biology* 9, 467–479.
- HURYN, A. D. (1996). Temperature-dependent growth and life cycle of *Deleatidium* (Ephemeroptera: Leptophlebiidae) in two high-country streams in New Zealand. *Freshwater Biology* **36**, 351–361.
- HUTCHINSON, G. E. & MACARTHUR, R. (1959). A theoretical ecological model of size distributions among species of animals. *The American Naturalist* 93, 117–125.
- HYNES, H. B. N. (1970). The Ecology of Running Waters. University of Toronto Press, Toronto.
- ICHIKAWA, Y., YOKOI, T. & WATANABE, M. (2017). Thermal factors affecting egg development in the wandering glider dragonfly, *Pantala flavescens* (Odonata: Libellulidae). *Applied Entomology and Zoology* 52, 89–95.

- IMHOLT, C., GIBBINS, C. N., MALCOLM, I. A., LANGAN, S. & SOULSBY, C. (2010). Influence of riparian cover on stream temperatures and the growth of the mayfly *Baetis rhodani* in an upland stream. *Aquatic Ecology* 44, 669–678.
- INGRAM, B. R. (1976). Effects of photoperiod and temperature on abnormal wing-pad developmei in two species of Odonata. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 54, 1103–1110.
- IVKOVIĆ, M., MILISA, M., PREVISIĆ, A., POPIJAC, A. & MIHALJEVIĆ, Z. (2013). Environmental control of emergence patterns: case study of changes in hourly and daily emergence of aquatic insects at constant and variable water temperatures. *International Review of Hydrobiology* **98**, 104–115.
- JACKSON, F. L., FRYER, R. J., HANNAH, D. M. & MALCOLM, I. A. (2020). Predictions of national-scale river temperatures: a visualisation of complex space-time dynamics. *Hydrological Processes* 34, 2823–2825.
- JACKSON, H. M., GIBBINS, C. N. & SOULSBY, C. (2007). Role of discharge and temperature variation in determining invertebrate community structure in a regulated river. *River Research and Applications* 23, 651–669.
- JACOBSEN, D., CAUVY-FRAUNIE, S., ANDINO, P., ESPINOSA, R., CUEVA, D. & DANGLES, O. (2014). Runoff and the longitudinal distribution of macroinvertebrates in a glacier-fed stream: implications for the effects of global warming. *Freshwater Biology* 59, 2038–2050.
- JOHANSSON, M. P., QUINTELA, M. & LAURILA, A. (2016). Genetic divergence and isolation by thermal environment in geothermal populations of an aquatic invertebrate. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 29, 1701–1712.
- JONES, K. K., HETZ, S. K. & SEYMOUR, R. S. (2018). The effects of temperature, activity and convection on the plastron PO2 of the aquatic bug *Aphelocheirus* aestivalis (Hemiptera; Aphelocheiridae). *Journal of Insect Physiology* **106**, 155–162.
- JONES, L. A., MUHLFELD, C. C. & HAUER, F. R. (2017). Temperature (Methods in stream ecology). In *Methods in Stream Ecology*, Third Edition (). Elsevier Inc, London.
- JONSSON, M., HEDSTRÖM, P., STENROTH, K., HOTCHKISS, E. R., VASCONCELOS, F. R., KARLSSON, J. & BYSTRÖM, P. (2015). Climate change modifies the size structure of assemblages of emerging aquatic insects. *Freshwater Biology* 60, 78–88.
- JORDAN, S., GIERSCH, J. J., MUHLFELD, C. C., HOTALING, S., FANNING, L., TAPPENBECK, T. H. & LUIKART, G. (2016). Loss of genetic diversity and increased subdivision in an endemic alpine stonefly threatened by climate change. *PLoS One* 11, 1–13.
- JOURDAN, J., O'HARA, R. B., BOTTARIN, R., HUTTUNEN, K. L., KUEMMERLEN, M., MONTEITH, D., MUOTKA, T., OZOLINS, D., PAAVOLA, R., PILOTTO, F., SPRINGE, G., SKUJA, A., SUNDERMANN, A., TONKIN, J. D. & HAASE, P. (2018). Effects of changing climate on European stream invertebrate communities: a longterm data analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 621, 588–599.
- JUNKER, J. R., CROSS, W. F., BENSTEAD, J. P., HURYN, A. D., HOOD, J. M., NELSON, D., GÍSLASON, G. M. & ÓLAFSSON, J. S. (2020). Resource supply governs the apparent temperature dependence of animal production in stream ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 23, 1809–1819.
- KAROUNA-RENIER, N. K. & ZEHR, J. P. (1999). Ecological implications of molecular biomarkers: assaying sub-lethal stress in the midge *Chironomus tentans* using heat shock protein 70 (HSP-70) expression. *Hydrobiologia* **401**, 255–264.
- KILLIAN, J. C. & LUTZ, P. E. (1985). Photoperiodic and thermal effects on nymphal development in *Epitheca (Tetragoneuria) cynosura* (Odonata: Libellulidae). *Environmental Entomology* 14, 142–145.
- KIM, K. S., CHOU, H., FUNK, D. H., JACKSON, J. K., SWEENEY, B. W. & BUCHWALTER, D. B. (2017). Physiological responses to short-term thermal stress in mayfly (*Neocloeon triangulifer*) larvae in relation to upper thermal limits. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 220, 2598–2605.
- KINGSOLVER, J. G. & HUEY, R. B. (2008). Size, temperature, and fitness: three rules. Evolutionary Ecology Research 10, 251–268.
- KISHI, D., MURAKAMI, M., NAKANO, S. & MAEKAWA, K. (2005). Water temperature determines strength of top-down control in a stream food web. *Freshwater Biology* 50, 1315–1322.
- KONRAD, C. P., BRASHER, A. M. D. & MAY, J. T. (2008). Assessing streamflow characteristics as limiting factors on benthic invertebrate assemblages in streams across the western United States. *Freshwater Biology* 53, 1983–1998.
- KRAJENBRINK, H. J., WHITE, J. C., DUNBAR, M. J. & WOOD, P. J. (2021). Macroinvertebrate and diatom community responses to thermal alterations below water supply reservoirs. *River Research and Applications* 38, 595–612.
- KRISHNARAJ, R. & PRITCHARD, G. (1995). The influence of larval size, temperature, and components of the functional response to prey density on growth rates of the dragonflies *Lestes disjunctus* and *Coenagrion resolutum* (Insecta: Odonata). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 73, 1672–1680.
- LAMBERTI, G. A., ASHKENAS, L. R., GREGORY, S. V. & STEINMAN, A. D. (1987). Effects of three herbivores on periphyton communities in laboratory streams. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 6, 92–104.
- LAMBRET, P., HILAIRE, S. & STOKS, R. (2017). Egg hatching phenology and success of Lestes macrostigma in two temporary brackish ponds. International Journal of Odonatology 20, 1–12.

- LANGFORD, T. E. (1975). The emergence of insects from a British River warmed by power station cooling-water. Part II - the emergence patterns of some species of Ephemeropta, Trichoptera and Megaloptera in relation to water temperature and river flow, upstream and downstream of t. Hydrobiologia 47, 91-133.
- LEGGOTT, M. & PRITCHARD, G. (1985). The effect of temperature on rate of egg and larval development in populations of Argia vivida Hagen (Odonata: Coenagrionidae) from habitats with different thermal regimes. Canadian Journal of Zoology 63, 2578-2582.
- LENCIONI, V. (2004). Survival strategies of freshwater insects in cold environments. Journal of Limnology 63, 45-55.
- LENCIONI, V., BERNABÒ, P., CESARI, M., REBECCHI, L. & CESARI, M. (2013). Thermal stress induces HSP70 proteins synthesis in larvae of the cold stream nonbiting midge Diamesa cinerella Meigen. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology 83, 1 - 14.
- LI, F., CAI, Q. & LIU, J. (2009). Temperature-dependent growth and life cycle of Nemoura sichuanensis (Plecoptera: Nemouridae) in a Chinese mountain stream. International Review of Hydrobiology 94, 595-608.
- LI, F., CHUNG, N., BAE, M. J., KWON, Y. S., KWON, T. S. & PARK, Y. S. (2013). Temperature change and macroinvertebrate biodiversity: assessments of organism vulnerability and potential distributions. Climatic Change 119, 421-434.
- LILLEHAMMER, A. (1985). Temperture influence on egg incubation period and nymphal growth on the stoneflies Leucra digitata and L. fusca (Plecoptera: Leuctridae). Entomologia Generalis 11, 59-67.
- LILLEHAMMER, A. (1986). The effect of temperature on the egg incubation period and nymphal growth of two Nemoura species (Plecoptera) from subarctic Fennoscandia. Aquatic Insects 8, 223–235.
- LINDEMAN, R. L. (1942). The trophic-dynamic aspect of ecology. Ecology 23, 399-417.
- LOPEZ-MARTINEZ, G., ELNITSKY, M. A., BENOIT, J. B., LEE, R. E. & DENLINGER, D. L. (2008). High resistance to oxidative damage in the Antarctic midge Belgica Antarctica, and developmentally linked expression of genes encoding superoxide dismutase, catalase and heat shock proteins. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 38, 796-804.
- LOWE, C. H. & VANCE, V. J. (1955). Acclimation of the critical thermal maximum of the reptile Urosaurus ornatus. Science 122, 73-74.
- LUTTERSCHMIDT, W. I. & HUTCHISON, V. H. (1997). The critical thermal maximum: history and critique. Canadian Journal of Zoology 75, 1561-1574.
- LUTZ, P. E. (1974). Effects of temperature and photoperiod on larval development in Tetragoneuria cynosura (Odonata: Libellulidae). Ecology 55, 370-377.
- MACKAY, R. J. (1984). Life history patterns of Hydropsyche bronta and H. morosa (Trichoptera: Hydropsychidae) in summer-warm rivers of southern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Zoology 62, 271–275.
- MACPHEE, S. A., ARNOTT, S. E. & KELLER, W. (2011). Lake thermal structure influences macroinvertebrate predation on crustacean zooplankton. Journal of Plankton Research 33, 1586-1595.
- MAIER, K. J., KOSALWAT, P. & KNIGHT, A. W. (1990). Culture of Chironomus decorus (Diptera: Chironomidae) and the effect of temperature on its life history. Environmental Entomology 19, 1681-1688.
- MARCOGLIESE, D. J. (2016). The distribution and abundance of parasites in aquatic ecosystems in a changing climate: more than just temperature. Integrative and Comparative Biology 56, 611-619.
- MARKARIAN, R. K. (1980). A study of the relationship between aquatic insect growth and water temperature in a small stream. Hydrobiologia 75, 81-95.
- MARTEN, M. (1990). Interspecific variation in temperature dependence of egg development of five congeneric stonefly species (Protonemura Kempny, 1898, Nemouridae, Plecoptera). Hydrobiologia 199, 157-172.
- MARTIN, W. J., GARTEN, C. T. & GENTRY, J. B. (1976). Thermal tolerances of dragonfly nymphs. I. Sources of variation in estimating critical thermal maximum. Physiological Zoology 49, 200–205.
- MARTÍN-FOLGAR, R., DE LA FUENTE, M., MORCILLO, G. & MARTÍNEZ-GUITARTE, J. L. (2015). Characterization of six small HSP genes from Chironomus riparius (Diptera, Chironomidae): differential expression under conditions of normal growth and heat-induced stress. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular and Integrative Physiology 188, 76-86.
- MARTINS, R. T., GONÇALVES, J. F., CAMPOS, C. M., LOPES, A., PIEDADE, M. T. F. & HAMADA, N. (2020). Leaf consumption by invertebrate aquatic shredders in the Amazon: effects of climate change and microbial conditioning. Limnology 21, 257 - 266.
- MARTINS, R. T., MELO, A. S., GONÇALVES, J. F., CAMPOS, C. M. & HAMADA, N. (2016). Effects of climate change on leaf breakdown by microorganisms and the shredder Phylloicus elektoros (Trichoptera: Calamoceratidae). Hydrobiologia 789, 31 - 44.
- MCCAFFERTY, W. P. & PEREIRA, C. (1984). Effects of developmental thermal regimes on two mayfly species and their taxonomic interpretation. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 77, 69-87.

- MCCAULEY, S. J., HAMMOND, J. I., FRANCES, D. N. & MABRY, K. E. (2015). Effects of experimental warming on survival, phenology, and morphology of an aquatic insect (Odonata). Ecological Entomology 40, 211-220.
- MCCAULEY, S. J., HAMMOND, J. I. & MABRY, K. E. (2018). Simulated climate change increases larval mortality, alters phenology, and affects flight morphology of a dragonfly. Ecosphere 9, 1-14.
- MCKIE, B. G. & CRANSTON, P. S. (2005). Size matters: systematic and ecological implications of allometry in the responses of chironomid midge morphological ratios to experimental temperature manipulations. Canadian Journal of Zoology 83, 553-568.
- MCKIE, B. G., CRANSTON, P. S. & PEARSON, R. G. (2004). Gondwanan mesotherms and cosmopolitan eurytherms: effects of temperature on the development and survival of Australian Chironomidae (Diptera) from tropical and temperate populations. Marine and Freshwater Research 55, 759-768.
- MCKIE, B. G. & PEARSON, R. G. (2006). Environmental variation and the predatorspecific responses of tropical stream insects: effects of temperature and predation on survival and development of Australian Chironomidae (Diptera). Oecologia 149, 328 - 339.
- MENDONÇA, F. Z., BERNARDY, J. V., OLIVEIRA, C. E. K., OLIVEIRA, P. B. G. & DE MARCO, P. (2018). Temperature effect on the development of tropical dragonfly eggs. Neotropical Entomology 47, 484-491.
- MERRITT, R. W., CUMMINS, K. W. & BERG, M. B. (2017). Trophic relationships of macroinvertebrates. In Methods in Stream Ecology, Third Edition (). Elsevier Inc, London.
- MESSAGER, M. L., LEHNER, B., GRILL, G., NEDEVA, I. & SCHMITT, O. (2016). Estimating the volume and age of water stored in global lakes using a geostatistical approach. Nature Communications 7, 1-11.
- MOCHIZUKI, S., KAYABA, Y. & TANIDA, K. (2006). Larval growth and development in the caddisfly Cheumatopsyche brevilineata under natural thermal regimes. Entomological Science 9, 129-136.
- MODLIN, R. F. & JAYNE, R. D. (1981). The effect of temperature on the oxygen consumption of three species of Isoperla (Plecoptera: Perlodidae). Journal of Freshwater Ecology 1, 299-306.
- MONDY, N., CATHALAN, E., HEMMER, C. & VOITURON, Y. (2011). The energetic costs of case construction in the caddisfly Limnephilus rhombicus; direct impacts on larvae and delayed impacts on adults. Journal of Insect Physiology 57, 197-202.
- MOODY, E. K., RUGENSKI, A. T., SABO, J. L., TURNER, B. L. & ELSER, J. J. (2017). Does the growth rate hypothesis apply across temperatures? Variation in the growth rate and body phosphorus of Neotropical benthic grazers. Frontiers in Environmental Science 5, 1–11.
- MOORE, J. W. & SCHINDLER, D. E. (2008). Biotic disturbance and benthic community dynamics in salmon-bearing streams. Journal of Animal Ecology 77, 275-284.
- MOORE, M. K. & TOWNSEND, V. R. (1998). The interaction of temperature, dissolved oxygen and predation pressure in an aquatic predator-prey system. Oikos 81, 329 - 336.
- MULLER, K. (1954). Investigations on the Organic Drift in North Swedish Streams. Institute of Freshwater Research, Drottningholm.
- MUNARI, C. (2011). Effects of the 2003 European heatwave on the benthic community of a severe transitional ecosystem (Comacchio Saltworks, Italy). Marine Pollution Bulletin 62, 2761-2770.
- MUSTONEN, K. R., MYKRÄ, H., MARTTILA, H., SARREMEJANE, R., VEIJALAINEN, N., SIPPEL, K., MUOTKA, T. & HAWKINS, C. P. (2018). Thermal and hydrologic responses to climate change predict marked alterations in boreal stream invertebrate assemblages. Global Change Biology 24, 2434-2446.
- MUTHUKRISHNAN, J., PALAVESAM, A. & SENTHAMIZHSEL VAN, M. (1988). Effect of temperature on yolk utilization in Kiefferulus barbitarsis (Kieffer) (Chironomidae). Journal of Thermal Biology 13, 31-35.
- NAVARRO, F. K. S. P. & GONÇALVES JÚNIOR, J. F. (2017). Effect of leaf decomposition stage and water temperature on fragmentation activity of a shredder invertebrate species in lotic ecosystems. Iheringia. Serie Zoologia 107, 1-6.
- NEBEKER, A. V. (1971). Effect of high winter water temperatures on adult emergence of aquatic insects. Water Research 5, 777-783.
- NELSON, D., BENSTEAD, J. P., HURYN, A. D., CROSS, W. F., HOOD, J. M., JOHNSON, P. W., JUNKER, J. R., GÍSLASON, G. M. & ÓLAFSSON, J. S. (2017). Shifts in community size structure drive temperature invariance of secondary production in a stream-warming experiment. Ecology 98, 1797-1806.
- NEWELL, R. L. & MINSHALL, G. W. (1978). Life history of a multivoltine mayfly. Tricorythodes minutus: an example of the effect of temperature on the life cycle. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 71, 876-881.
- NIEDRIST, G. H. & FÜREDER, L. (2020). Real-time warming of alpine streams: (re) defining invertebrates' temperature preferences. River Research and Applications 37, 283 - 293
- NILSSON-ÖRTMAN, V., STOKS, R., BLOCK, M. D. & JOHANSSON, F. (2012). Generalists and specialists along a latitudinal transect: patterns of thermal adaptation in six species of damselflies. Ecology 93, 1340-1352.

- NILSSON-ÖRTMAN, V., STOKS, R., DE BLOCK, M. & JOHANSSON, F. (2013a). Latitudinal patterns of phenology and age-specific thermal performance across six *Coenagrion* damselfly species. *Ecological Monographs* 83, 491–510.
- NILSSON-ÖRTMAN, V., STOKS, R., DE BLOCK, M., JOHANSSON, H. & JOHANSSON, F. (2013b). Latitudinally structured variation in the temperature dependence of damselfly growth rates. *Ecology Letters* 16, 64–71.
- NILSSON-ÖRTMAN, V., STOKS, R. & JOHANSSON, F. (2014). Competitive interactions modify the temperature dependence of damselfly growth rates. *Ecology* 95, 1394– 1406.
- NYQUIST, C., VONDRACEK, B. & FERRINGTON, L. (2020). The influence of an instream thermal gradient on chironomid emergence during winter. *Hydrobiologia* 847, 3153–3167.
- ODUM, E. P. (1968). Energy flow in ecosystems: a historical review. *American Zoologist* 8, 11–18.
- ORR, S. E. & BUCHWALTER, D. B. (2020). It's all about the fluxes: temperature influences ion transport and toxicity in aquatic insects. *Aquatic Toxicology* **221**, 1–7.
- OUAHSINE, H., CÉRÉGHINO, R. & LAVANDIER, P. (1996). Influence of temperature and macrophytes development on the larval population dynamics of *Epeorus* sylvicola Pict (Ephemeroptera) in a torrential river of the Haut-Atlas de Marrakech (Morocco). Annales de Linnologie 32, 27–31.
- PADFIELD, D., LOWE, C., BUCKLING, A., FFRENCH-CONSTANT, R., JENNINGS, S., SHELLEY, F., ÓLAFSSON, J. S. & YVON-DUROCHER, G. (2017). Metabolic compensation constrains the temperature dependence of gross primary production. *Ecology Letters* 20, 1250–1260.
- PAGANO, T., BIDA, M. & KENNY, J. E. (2014). Trends in levels of allochthonous dissolved organic carbon in natural water: a review of potential mechanisms under a changing climate. *Water (Switzerland)* 6, 2862–2897.
- PANDIAN, T. J., MATHAVAN, S. & JEYAGOPL, C. P. (1979). Influence of temperature and body weight on mosquito predation by the dragonfly nymphs *Mesogomphus lineatus*. *Hydrobiologia* 62, 99–104.
- PATRICK, C. J., MCGARVEY, D. J., LARSON, J. H., CROSS, W. F., ALLEN, D. C., BENKE, A. C., BREY, T., HURYN, A. D., JONES, J., MURPHY, C. A., RUFFING, C., SAFFARINIA, P., WHILES, M. R., WALLACE, J. B. & WOODWARD, G. (2019). Precipitation and temperature drive continental-scale patterns in stream invertebrate production. *Science Advances* 5, 1–9.
- PERRY, S. A., PERRY, W. B. & STANFORD, J. A. (1987). Effects of thermal regime on size, growth rates and emergence of two species of stoneflies (Plecoptera: Taeniopterygidae, Pteronarcyidae) in the Flathead River, Montana. *American Midland Naturalist* 117, 83–93.
- PÉRY, A. R. & GARRIC, J. (2006). Modelling effects of temperature and feeding level on the life cycle of the midge *Chironomus riparius*: an energy-based modelling approach. *Hydrobiologia* 553, 59–66.
- PICKUP, J. & THOMPSON, D. J. (1990). The effects of temperature and prey density on the development rates and growth of damselfly larvae (Odonata: Zygoptera). *Ecological Entomology* 15, 187–200.
- PIGGOTT, J. J., TOWNSEND, C. R. & MATTHAEI, C. D. (2015). Climate warming and agricultural stressors interact to determine stream macroinvertebrate community dynamics. *Global Change Biology* 21, 1887–1906.
- PIRES, M. M., PÉRICO, E., RENNER, S. & SAHLÉN, G. (2018). Predicting the effects of future climate change on the distribution of an endemic damselfly (Odonata, Coenagrionidae) in subtropical South American grasslands. *Journal of Insect Conservation* 22, 303–319.
- POFF, L. N., PYNE, M. I., BLEDSOE, B. P., CUHACIYAN, C. C. & CARLISLE, D. M. (2010). Developing linkages between species traits and multiscaled environmental variation to explore vulnerability of stream benthic communities to climate change. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 29, 1441–1458.
- POLATO, N. R., GILL, B. A., SHAH, A. A., GRAY, M. M., CASNER, K. L., BARTHELET, A., MESSER, P. W., SIMMONS, M. P., GUAYASAMIN, J. M., ENCALADA, A. C. & KONDRATIEFF, B. C. (2018). Narrow thermal tolerance and low dispersal drive higher speciation in tropical mountains. *PNAS* **115**, 12471– 12476.
- PORCAL, P., KOPRIVNJAK, J. F., MOLOT, L. A. & DILLON, P. J. (2009). Humic substances-part 7: the biogeochemistry of dissolved organic carbon and its interactions with climate change. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 16, 714–726.
- PRITCHARD, G., HARDER, L. D. & MUTCH, R. A. (1996). Development of aquatic insect eggs in relation to temperature and strategies for dealing with different thermal environments. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 58, 221–244.
- PRITCHARD, G. & PELCHAT, B. (1977). Larval growth and development of Argia vivida (Odonata: Coenagrionidae) in warm sulphur pools at Banff, Alberta. Canadian Entomologist 109, 1563–1570.
- PRITCHARD, G. & ZLOTY, J. (1994). Life histories of two Ameletus mayflies (Ephemeroptera) in two mountain streams: the influence of temperature, body size, and parasitism. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 13, 557–568.
- PROCTER, D. L. C. (1973). The effect of temperature and photoperiod on larval development in Odonata. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 51, 1165–1170.

- PYNE, M. I. & POFF, N. L. R. (2017). Vulnerability of stream community composition and function to projected thermal warming and hydrologic change across ecoregions in the western United States. *Global Change Biology* 23, 77–93.
- QUENTA HERRERA, E., CASAS, J., DANGLES, O. & PINCEBOURDE, S. (2018). Temperature effects on ballistic prey capture by a dragonfly larva. *Ecology and Evolution* **8**, 4303–4311.
- RADDUM, G. G. (1985). Effects of winter warm reservoir release on benthic stream invertebrates. *Hydrobiologia* 122, 105–111.
- RADER, R. & WARD, J. (1990). Mayfly growth and population density in constant and variable temperature regimes. *The Great Basin Naturalist* 50, 97–106.
- RASMUSSEN, J. B. (1982). The effect of thermal effluent, before and after macrophyte harvesting, on standing crop and species composition of benthic macroinvertebrate communities in Lake Wabamun, Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 60, 3196–3205.
- REICE, S. R. (1994). Nonequilibrium determinants of biological community structure. *American Scientist* 82, 424–435.
- REMPEL, R. S. & CARTER, J. C. H. (1986). An experimental study on the effect of elevated temperature on the heterotrophic and autotrophic food resources of aquatic insects in a forested stream. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 64, 2457–2466.
- REMPEL, R. S. & CARTER, J. C. H. (1987). Temperature Influences on adult size, development, and reproductive potential of aquatic Diptera. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 44, 1743–1752.
- RESH, V. H. (2008). Which group is best? Attributes of different biological assemblages used in freshwater biomonitoring programs. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 138, 131–138.
- REYNOLDS, S. K. & BENKE, A. C. (2005). Temperature-dependent growth rates of larval midges (Diptera: Chironomidae) from a southeastern U.S. stream. *Hydrobiologia* 544, 69–75.
- RICHTER, O., SUHLING, F., MÜLLER, O. & KERN, D. (2008). A model for predicting the emergence of dragonflies in a changing climate. *Freshwater Biology* 53, 1868–1880.
- RIVERS-MOORE, N. A., DALLAS, H. F. & ROSS-GILLESPIE, V. (2012). Life history does matter in assessing potential ecological impacts of thermal changes on aquatic macroinvertebrates. *River Research and Applications* 29, 1100–1109.
- ROGOWSKI, D. L. & STEWART, K. R. (2016). Effects of increased temperature on a Trichoptera (Hydropsychidae) from premontane forest streams in southern Costa Rica. *Tropical Ecology* 57, 57–68.
- ROSILLON, D. (1988). Food preference and relative influence of temperature and food quality on life history characteristics of a grazing mayfly, *Ephemerella ignita* (Poda). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 66, 1474–1481.
- ROSS-GILLESPIE, V., PICKER, M. D., DALLAS, H. F. & DAY, J. A. (2018). The role of temperature in egg development of three aquatic insects *Lestagella penicillata* (Ephemeroptera), *Aphanicercella scutata* (Plecoptera), *Chimarra ambulans* (Trichoptera) from South Africa. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **71**, 158–170.
- ROTVIT, L. & JACOBSEN, D. (2013). Temperature increase and respiratory performance of macroinvertebrates with different tolerances to organic pollution. *Limnologica* 43, 510–515.
- SALTVEIT, S. J., BREMNES, T. & BRITTAIN, J. E. (1994). Effect of a changed temperature regime on the benthos of a norwegian regulated river. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management* 9, 93–102.
- SANDIN, L., SCHMIDT-KLOIBER, A., SVENNING, J. C., JEPPESEN, E. & FRIBERG, N. (2014). A trait-based approach to assess climate change sensitivity of freshwater invertebrates across Swedish ecoregions. *Current Zoology* **60**, 221–232.
- SARVALA, J. (1979). Effect of temperature on the duration of egg, nauplius and copepodite development of some freshwater benthic Copepoda. *Freshwater Biology* 9, 515–534.
- SAWCHYN, W. W. & CHURCH, N. S. (1973). The effects of temperature and photoperiod on diapause development in the eggs of four species of *Lestes* (Odonata: Zygoptera). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 51, 1257–1265.
- SCHERR, M. A., WOOSTER, D. E. & RAO, S. (2010). Effects of temperature on growth rate and behavior of *Epeorus albertae* (Ephemeroptera: Heptageniidae) nymphs. *Environmental Entomology* 39, 2017–2024.
- SCHMELLER, D. S., WEATHERDON, L. V., LOYAU, A., BONDEAU, A., BROTONS, L., BRUMMITT, N., GEIJENDORFFER, I. R., HAASE, P., KUEMMERLEN, M., MARTIN, C. S., MIHOUB, J. B., ROCCHINI, D., SAARENMAA, H., STOLL, S. & REGAN, E. C. (2018). A suite of essential biodiversity variables for detecting critical biodiversity change. *Biological Reviews* 93, 55–71.
- SCHÜLTING, L., FELD, C. K. & GRAF, W. (2016). Effects of hydro- and thermopeaking on benthic macroinvertebrate drift. *Science of the Total Environment* 573, 1472–1480 Elsevier B.V.
- SHAH, A. A., BACMEISTER, E. M. S., RUBALCABA, J. G. & GHALAMBOR, C. K. (2020). Divergence and constraint in the thermal sensitivity of aquatic insect swimming performance. *Current Zoology* 66, 555–564.
- SHAH, A. A., GILL, B. A., ENCALADA, A. C., FLECKER, A. S., FUNK, W. C., GUAYASAMIN, J. M., KONDRATIEFF, B. C., POFF, N. L. R., THOMAS, S. A., ZAMUDIO, K. R. & GHALAMBOR, C. K. (2017). Climate variability predicts thermal limits of aquatic insects across elevation and latitude. *Functional Ecology* **31**, 2118–2127.

- SHOUP, L. & HOUGHTON, D. (2013). The effect of acclimation temperature on the critical thermal maximum of a cold-water population of *Pteronarcys dorsata* (Say) (Plecoptera: Pteronarcyidae). *The Great Lakes Entomologist* **46**, 3.
- SILVA, D. P., DIAS, A. C., LECCI, L. S. & SIMIAO-FERREIRA, J. (2019). Potential effects of future climate changes on Brazilian cool-adapted stoneflies (Insecta: Plecoptera). *Neotropical Entomology* 48, 57–70.
- SINSABAUGH, R. L. (1997). Large-scale trends for stream benthic respiration. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 16, 119–122.
- SMOLINSKÝ, R. & GVOZDÍK, L. (2014). Effect of temperature extremes on the spatial dynamics of predator-prey interactions: a case study with dragonfly nymphs and newt larvae. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **39**, 12–16.
- ŚNIEGULA, S., GOLAB, M. J. & JOHANSSON, F. (2019). Size-mediated priority and temperature effects on intra-cohort competition and cannibalism in a damselfly. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 88, 637–648.
- SÖDERSTRÖM, O. (1988). Effects of temperature and food quality on life-history parameters in *Parameletus chelifer* and *P. minor* (Ephemeroptera): a laboratory study. *Freshwater Biology* **20**, 295–303.
- SÖNDGERATH, D., RUMMLAND, J. & SUHLING, F. (2012). Large spatial scale effects of rising temperatures: modelling a dragonfly's life cycle and range throughout Europe. *Insect Conservation and Diversity* 5, 461–469.
- SPARKS, T. H., JEFFREE, E. P. & JEFFREE, C. E. (2000). An examination of the relationship between flowering times and temperature at the national scale using long-term phenological records from the UK. *International Journal of Biometeorology* 44, 82–87.
- STARR, S. M. & MCINTYRE, N. E. (2020). Effects of water temperature under projected climate change on the development and survival of *Enallagma civile* (Odonata: Coenagrionidae). *Environmental Entomology* 49, 230–237.
- STENDERA, S., ADRIAN, R., BONADA, N., CAÑEDO-ARGÜELLES, M., HUGUENY, B., JANUSCHKE, K., PLETTERBAUER, F. & HERING, D. (2012). Drivers and stressors of freshwater biodiversity patterns across different ecosystems and scales: a review. *Hydrobiologia* 696, 1–28.
- STEWART, B. A., CLOSE, P. G., COOK, P. A. & DAVIES, P. M. (2013). Upper thermal tolerances of key taxonomic groups of stream invertebrates. *Hydrobiologia* 718, 131–140.
- STOKS, R., GEERTS, A. N. & DE MEESTER, L. (2014). Evolutionary and plastic responses of freshwater invertebrates to climate change: realized patterns and future potential. *Evolutionary Applications* **7**, 42–55.
- STOKS, R., SWILLEN, I. & DE BLOCK, M. (2012). Behaviour and physiology shape the growth accelerations associated with predation risk, high temperatures and southern latitudes in *Ischnura* damselfly larvae. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 81, 1034–1040.
- STOREY, A. W. (1987). Influence of temperature and food quality on the life history of an epiphytic chironomid. *Entomologica Scandinavica Supplements* 29, 339–347.
- STRANGE, C. D. (1985). The effect of temperature on the egg development of Protonenuura meyeri Pictet (Plecoptera; Nemouridae). In Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy, pp. 101–106. Royal Irish Academy, Gwent.
- SUHLING, F., SUHLING, I. & RICHTER, O. (2015). Temperature response of growth of larval dragonflies – an overview. International Journal of Odonatology 18, 15–30.
- SUNDERMANN, A., ANTONS, C., CRON, N., LORENZ, A. W., HERING, D. & HAASE, P. (2011). Hydromorphological restoration of running waters: effects on benthic invertebrate assemblages. *Freshwater Biology* 56, 1689–1702.
- SUPINA, J., BOJKOVÁ, J. & BOUKAL, D. S. (2020). Warming erodes individual-level variability in life history responses to predation risk in larvae of the mayfly *Cloeon dipterum. Freshwater Biology* 65, 2211–2223.
- SWAEGERS, J., SPANIER, K. I. & STOKS, R. (2020). Genetic compensation rather than genetic assimilation drives the evolution of plasticity in response to mild warming across latitudes in a damselfly. *Molecular Ecology* 29, 4823–4834.
- SWEENEY, B. W. (1978). Bioenergetic and developmental response of a mayfly to thermal variation. *Limnology and Oceanography* 23, 461–477.
- SWEENEY, B. W., FUNK, D. H., CAMP, A. A., BUCHWALTER, D. B. & JACKSON, J. K. (2018). Why adult mayflies of *Cloen dipterum* (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) become smaller as temperature warms. *Freshwater Science* 37, 64–81.
- SWEENEY, B. W. & VANNOTE, R. L. (1978). Size variation and the distribution of hemimetabolous aquatic insects: two thermal equilibrium hypotheses. *Science* 200, 444–446.
- SWEENEY, B. W. & VANNOTE, R. L. (1984). Influence of food quality and temperature on life history characteristics of the parthenogenetic mayfly, *Cloeon triangulifer*. *Freshwater Biology* 14, 621–630.
- SWEENEY, B. W. & VANNOTE, R. L. (1986). Growth and production of stream stonefly: influences of diet and temperature. *Ecology* 67, 1396–1410.
- SWEENEY, B. W., VANNOTE, R. L. & DODDS, P. J. (1986a). Effects of temperature and food quality on growth and development of a mayfly *Leptophlebia intermedia*. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 43, 12–18.

- SWEENEY, B. W., VANNOTE, R. L. & DODDS, P. J. (1986b). The relative importance of temperature and diet to larval development and adult size of the winter stonefly, *Soyedina carolinensis* (Piecoptera: Nemouridae). *Freshwater Biology* 16, 39–48.
- TAN, H., HIRST, A. G., ATKINSON, D. & KRATINA, P. (2021). Body size and shape responses to warming and resource competition. *Functional Ecology* 35, 1460–1469.
- TEETS, N. M., KAWARASAKI, Y., LEE, R. E. & DENLINGER, D. L. (2013). Expression of genes involved in energy mobilization and osmoprotectant synthesis during thermal and dehydration stress in the Antarctic midge, *Belgica Antarctica. Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 183, 189–201.
- TENNESSEN, K., MILLER, J. L. & PRICE, J. H. (1982). Hatching success of eggs of *Hexagenia-bilineata* (Ephemeroptera) exposed to brief thermal shock. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 7, 133–137.
- THOMPSON, D. J. (1978). Towards a realistic predator-prey model: the effect of temperature on the functional response and life history of larvae of the damselfly, *Ischnura elegans. Journal of Animal Ecology* 47, 757–767.
- TIMONER, P., MARLE, P., CASTELLA, E. & LEHMANN, A. (2020). Spatial patterns of mayfly, stonefly and caddisfly assemblages in Swiss running waters in the face of global warming. *Ecography* 43, 1065–1078.
- TOFFOLON, M. & PICCOLROAZ, S. (2015). A hybrid model for river water temperature as a function of air temperature and discharge. *Environmental Research Letters* 10, 114011 IOP Publishing.
- TOUGERON, K. (2019). Diapause research in insects: historical review and recent work perspectives. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* 167, 27–36.
- TROTTIER, R. (1971). Effect of temperature on the life-cycle of Anax junzus (Odonata: Aeshnidae) in Canada. The Canadian Entomologist 103, 1671–1683.
- TROTTIER, R. (1973a). A controlled temperature and humidity cabinet for recording the emergence behaviour of aquatic insects. *The Canadian Entomologist* 105, 971–974.
- TROTTIER, R. (1973b). Influence of temperature and humidity on the emergence behaviour of anax junius (Odonata: Aeshnidae). *The Canadian Entomologist* 105, 975–984.
- TURNER, D. & WILLIAMS, D. D. (2005). Sexual dimorphism and the influence of artificial elevated temperatures on body size in the imago of *Nemoura trispinosa* (Plecoptera: Nemouridae). Aquatic Insects 27, 243–252.
- TÜZÜN, N., OP DE BEECK, L., BRANS, K. I., JANSSENS, L. & STOKS, R. (2017). Microgeographic differentiation in thermal performance curves between rural and urban populations of an aquatic insect. *Evolutionary Applications* 10, 1067–1075.
- VAN DOORSLAER, W. & STOKS, R. (2005a). Growth rate plasticity to temperature in two damselfly species differing in latitude: contributions of behaviour and physiology. *Oikas* 111, 599–605.
- VAN DOORSLAER, W. & STOKS, R. (2005b). Thermal reaction norms in two Coenagrion damselfly species: contrasting embryonic and larval life-history traits. *Freshwater Biology* 50, 1982–1990.
- VAN VLIET, M. T. H., FRANSSEN, W. H. P., YEARSLEY, J. R., LUDWIG, F., HADDELAND, I., LETTENMAIER, D. P. & KABAT, P. (2013). Global river discharge and water temperature under climate change. *Global Environmental Change* 23, 450–464.
- VANNOTE, R. L., MINSHALL, G. W., CUMMINS, K., SEDELL, J. R. & CUSHING, C. E. (1980). The river continuum concept. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 37, 130–137.
- VANNOTE, R. L. & SWEENEY, B. W. (1980). Geographic analysis of thermal equilibria: a conceptual model for evaluating the effect of natural and modified thermal regimes on aquatic insect communities. *The American Naturalist* 115, 667–695.
- VASSEUR, D. A. & MCCANN, K. S. (2005). A mechanistic approach for modeling temperature-dependent consumer-resource dynamics. *American Naturalist* 166, 184–198.
- VERBERK, W. C. E. P., ATKINSON, D., HOEFNAGEL, K. N., HIRST, A. G., HORNE, C. R. & SIEPEL, H. (2021). Shrinking body sizes in response to warming: explanations for the temperature–size rule with special emphasis on the role of oxygen. *Biological Reviews* 96, 247–268.
- VILLALOBOS-JIMÉNEZ, G. & HASSALL, C. (2017). Effects of the urban heat Island on the phenology of Odonata in London, UK. International Journal of Biometeorology 61, 1337–1346.
- VOELZ, N. J., POFF, N. L. & WARD, J. V. (1994). Differential effects of a brief thermal disturbance on caddisflies (Trichoptera) in a regulated river. *The American Midland Naturalist* 132, 173–182.
- VOGT, C., PUPP, A., NOWAK, C., JAGODZINSKI, L. S., BAUMANN, J., JOST, D., OETKEN, M. & OEHLMANN, J. (2007). Interaction between genetic diversity and temperature stress on life-cycle parameters and genetic variability in midge *Chironomus riparius* populations. *Climate Research* 33, 207–214.
- WAGNER, R. (1990). Influence of temperature, photoperiod and nutrition on growth and consumption of *Chaetopteryx villosa* (Trichoptera). *Holarctic Ecology* 13, 247–254.
- WAGNER, R. (2005). The influence of stream water temperature on size and weight of caddisflies (Insecta, Trichoptera) along the Breitenbach 1983-1991. Archiv für Hydrobiologie 163, 65–79.
- WANDERS, N., VAN VLIET, M. T. H., WADA, Y., BIERKENS, M. F. P. & VAN BEEK, L. P. H. (2019). High-resolution global water temperature modeling. *Water Resources Research* 55, 2760–2778.

WARD, J. V. & STANFORD, J. A. (1982). Thermal responses in the evolutionary ecology of aquatic insects. Annual Review of Entomology 27, 97–117.

- WATANABE, N. C., MORI, I. & YOSHITAKA, I. (1999). Effect of water temperature on the mass emergence of the mayfly, *Ephoron shigae*, in a Japanese river (Ephemeroptera: Polymitarcyidae). *Freshwater Biology* **41**, 537–541.
- WATERS, T. F. (1965). Interpretation of invertebrate drift in streams. Ecology 46, 327–334.
- WELLBORN, G. A. & ROBINSON, J. V. (1996). Effects of a thermal effluent on macroinvertebrates in a Central Texas reservoir. *American Midland Naturalist* 136, 110–120.
- WILEY, M. J. & KOHLER, S. L. (1980). Positioning changes of mayfly nymphs due to behavioral regulation of oxygen consumption. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 58, 618–622.
- WILL, K. W. & RESH, V. H. (2008). Phylogenetic relationships and evolutionary adaptations of aquatic insects. In An Introduction to the Aquatic Insects of North America, pp. 139–156. Kendall Hunt Publishing Company, Dubuque.
- WINTERBOURN, M. J., CADBURY, S., ILG, C. & MILNER, A. M. (2008). Mayfly production in a New Zealand glacial stream and the potential effect of climate change. *Hydrobiologia* **603**, 211–219.
- WOJTALIK, T. A. & WATERS, T. F. (1970). Some effects of heated water on the drift of two species of stream invertebrates. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 99, 782–788.
- WONGLERSAK, R., FENBERG, P. B., LANGDON, P. G., BROOKS, S. J. & PRICE, B. W. (2020). Temperature-body size responses in insects: a case study of British Odonata. *Ecological Entomology* 45, 795–805.
- WOODS, H. A. (1999). Egg-mass size and cell size: effects of temperature on oxygen distribution. American Zoologist 39, 244–252.
- WOODS, T., KAZ, A. & GIAM, X. (2021). Phenology in freshwaters: a review and recommendations for future research. *Ecography* 6, 1–14.
- WORTHINGTON, T. A., SHAW, P. J., DAFFERN, J. R. & LANGFORD, T. E. L. (2015). The effects of a thermal discharge on the macroinvertebrate community of a large British river: implications for climate change. *Hydrobiologia* **753**, 81–95.

(Received 13 July 2021; revised 26 August 2022; accepted 31 August 2022)

- WRIGHT, L. L., MATTICE, J. S. & BEAUCHAMP, J. J. (1982). Effect of temperature and sex on growth patterns in nymphs of the mayfly *Hexagenia hilineata* in the laboratory. *Freshwater Biology* 12, 535–545.
- ZIMMERMAN, M. C. & WISSING, T. E. (1978). Effects of temperature on gut-loading and gut-clearing times of the burrowing mayfly, *Hexagenia limbata. Freshwater Biology* 8, 269–277.
- ZIVIĆ, I., ZIVIĆ, M., BJELANOVIĆ, K., MILOSEVIĆ, D., STANOJLOVIĆ, S., DALJEVIĆ, R. & MARKOVIĆ, Z. (2014). Global warming effects on benthic macroinvertebrates: a model case study from a small geothermal stream. *Hydrobiologia* 732, 147–159.
- ZWICK, P. (1996). Capacity of discontinuous egg development and its importance for the geographic distribution of the warm water stenotherm, *Dinocras cephaloles* (Insecta: Plecoptera: Perlidae). Annales de Limnologie 32, 147–160.

# X. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

**Fig. S1.** PRISMA flow diagram showing the different phases of article selection for the systematic review.

**Table S1.** Number of studies for each category of information extracted from the research publications (N = 218) included in the final database.